

Skolkovo Institute of Science and Technology

SULFONIMIDE-BASED DENDRIMERS: SYNTHESIS AND APPLICATION FOR SURFACE FUNCTIONALIZATION

Doctoral Thesis

by

JULIA BONDAREVA

DOCTORAL PROGRAM IN MATERIALS SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING

Supervisor Professor Igor Shishkovsky Co-supervisor Dr. Stanislav Evlashin

Moscow - 2020

© Julia Bondareva 2020

I hereby declare that the work presented in this thesis was carried out by myself at Skolkovo Institute of Science and Technology, Moscow, except where due acknowledgment is made and has not been submitted for any other degree.

Candidate (Julia Bondareva)

Supervisor (Prof. Igor Shishkovsky)

Supervisor:	Professor Igor Shishkovsky
	Skolkovo Institute of Science and Technology, Russia
Co-supervisor:	Dr. Stanislav Evlashin
	Skolkovo Institute of Science and Technology, Russia
Defense Jury:	Professor Alexey Buchachenko (Chairman),
	Skolkovo Institute of Science and Technology, Russia
	Dr. Sci. in Polymer Chemistry, corresponding member of
	Russian Academy of Sciences Sergey Ponomarenko,
	Enikolopov Institute of Synthetic Polymer Materials of Russian
	Academy
	Professor Albert Nasibulin
	Skolkovo Institute of Science and Technology
	Associate Professor Tanja Kallio,
	University of Aalto, Finland
	Postdoctoral researcher Xiaomin Zhu
	RWTH Aachen University
	Date & Time: October 5, 2020
Venue:	Skolkovo Institute of Science and Technology, 30, Bolshoi
Boulevard, bld. 1, l	Room E-R3-C2-2007

Abstract

Dendrimers are unique classes of polymeric macromolecules, composed of branched monomers, characterized by high monodispersity, good biocompatibility, multivalent surface, and the presence of internal cavities. Due to these beneficial features over recent years, dendrimers have been considered attractive materials by detecting and imaging agents, targeting components, or pharmaceutically active compounds. Such a variety of applications exists because the core, branching units, and surface of dendrimers can be created by a wide range of combinations of chemical groups and molecules, causing about fifty families of dendrimers. Despite the growing interest of scientists in these structures, there is still not enough preliminary information for dendrimers' actual use in real-life applications.

In the present work, I focused on one promising type of dendrimers with sulfonimide groups at each branching point. The synthesis of such structures is not so difficult but, at some stage, can be limited to the 4th generation species with considerable drops in yields at the last reaction step. In this work, an improved synthesis method, allowing a highyield preparation of sulfonimide-based dendrimers via the divergent route, is developed. This route consists of repetitive synthetic steps of selected coupling reactions and allows avoiding the complicated process of purification and allows us for the first time to reach sulfonimide dendrimer up to 5th generation. Although a lot of work on the synthesis of dendrimers has already been done, there is still a large number of problems that must be solved, in particular, the reduction of the synthesis time and optimization of processes. Because of the dendrimer application's importance, one needs to use a powerful set of techniques for the dendrimer characterization to prove their chemical structure, composition, and molecular weight. Methods such as transmission electron microscopy (TEM), optical microscopy, atomic force microscopy (AFM), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), thermogravimetric analysis (TGA), and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and mass spectrometry (MS) were used to characterize the obtained dendrimers. In this work, I address the problem of creating a thin film from obtained sulfonimidebased dendrimers of different generations for further surface engineering. The most important for achieving a good hydrophobicity was forming the film made of 5th generation of sulfonimide dendrimer. The creation of a thin layer possessing well-defined repeating fragments at the nanoscale has been a challenge for chemists of various subdisciplines. Although some success has been achieved, there is still not enough evidence of the existence of constructed dendrimer films that have a thickness of a monomer molecule. Based on the first successful results in making and characterizing synthesized dendrimer structures, I formulate a promising approach to this class of novel polymers. The approach is based on functionalized sulfonimide dendrimers with naphthyl terminal groups capable of forming stable films at the air-water interface with subsequent polymerization in the compressed state. The main advantages of the selected approach are (i) the opportunity to change properties of surfaces at the nanoscale via functionalization of dendrimers, (ii) the capability to transfer films onto a variety of solid substrates, (iii) the possibility of using various analytical tools to characterize the thin film (e.g., optical microscopy, ellipsometry, AFM, SEM and TEM studies), (iv) application such films as protective or sensing coatings.

Keywords: Sulfonimide-based dendrimers, branched-chain, divergent approach, thin films, 5th generation of sulfonimide dendrimer, Langmuir-Blodgett technique, contact angle.

List of Publications

This doctoral dissertation consists of a summary of the following publications:

 Bondareva, J.; Rozhkov, V.; Kachala, V. V.; Fetyukhin, V.; Lukin, O. An Optimized Divergent Synthesis of Sulfonimide-Based Dendrimers Achieving the Fifth Generation. Synth. Commun. 2019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00397911.2019.1676909</u>.

(2) Kolotylo, M.; Holovatiuk, V.; Bondareva, J.; Lukin, O.; Rozhkov, V. Synthesis of Sulfonimide-Based Dendrimers and Dendrons Possessing Mixed $1 \rightarrow 2$ and $1 \rightarrow 4$ Branching Motifs. Tetrahedron Lett. 2019, 60 (4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetlet.2018.12.052.

(3) Bondareva, J.; Kolotylo, M.; Rozhkov, V.; Burilov, V.; Lukin, O. A Convergent Approach to Sulfonimide-Based Dendrimers and Dendrons. Tetrahedron Lett. 2020, 152011. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetlet.2020.152011</u>.

(4) Bondareva, J.; Luchkin, S.; Dagesyan, S.; Egorov, A.; Evlashin, S.; Lukin, O. Covalent and Noncovalent Films Made up of Sulfonimide-Based Dendrimers. Appl. Surf. Sci. 2020, 146345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2020.146345</u>.

(5) Bondareva, Julia; Evlashin, Stanislav; Lukin, Oleg. "Sulfonimide-based Dendrimers: Progress in Synthesis, Characterization, and Potential Applications." Polymer Reviews on August 28, 2020

Author's contribution

(1) The author was responsible for performing synthesis procedures to obtain superbranched sulfonyl chloride dendrimer. The same synthetic strategies (coupling and reduction) were used in the present study to prepare the 2^{nd} generation of sulfonimide dendrimer. The author was also responsible for co-writing the manuscript.

(2) The author is mainly responsible for the work. The author was responsible for conducting the experimental work, which leads to the final product and NMR data analysis. Co-authors conducted mass spectrometry analysis. The author was responsible for co-writing the manuscript.

(3) The author was responsible for conducting experiments of convergent synthesis of 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} generation sulfonimide chloride derivatives decorated with naphthyl terminal groups.

(4) The author is mainly responsible for the work. The author conceived and conducted the experiments apart from the SEM and AFM experiments, which were conducted by co-authors. The author was responsible for writing and submitting the manuscript.

(5) The author is mainly responsible for collection and analysis of information in the literature. The author was responsible for writing and submitting the manuscript.

List of Conferences

(1) Gen-Y Young Scientists Cross-Disciplinary Conference, Sochi, Russia, 27 September
– 1 October 2017. Poster Title: Synthetic analogs of graphene made of dendrimers.

(2) 3rd annual Skoltech-MIT Conference on "Collaborative Solutions for Next Generation Education, Science and Technology" Moscow, Russia October 15-16, 2018. Poster Title: Sulfonimide-based dendrimers: synthesis and application for surface engineering.

(3) V International Russian-Kazakhstan Conference "Chemical Technology of Functional Materials," Novosibirsk, Russia, 16-18 May 2019. Poster Title: Covalent and noncovalent films made up of sulfonimide – based dendrimers for surface engineering.

(4) XXVII Internatioanal Scientific Conference of Students, Postgraduates and Young Scientists "Lomonosov," Moscow, Russia, planned in October 2020. Poster Title: Synthetic analogues of graphene made of dendrimers for surface coatings.

(5) Bilateral Conference on Functional Materials (BiC-FM) Finland-Russia, October, 8-9, 2020. Flash oral presentation: Naphthyl - functionalized dendrimers can regulate surface properties of materials.

Acknowledgments

The research included in this thesis was mainly performed between July 2016 and October 2020 in the Laboratory of the Center for Design, Manufacturing, and Materials of the Skolkovo Institute of Science and Technology (Skoltech).

I express my deep gratitude and sincere appreciation to my supervisor Dr. Oleg Lukin, who led and provided invaluable guidance on my research until 2019. Also, I would like to thank Pr. Igor Shishkovsky, who was my supervisor since 2019, for his active participation in my research activities and useful feedback. I was delighted to learn from my co-supervisor, Stanislav Evlashin. His dynamism, vision, sincerity, and motivation have deeply inspired and motivated me to fulfill all set goals and see new perspectives. In addition, I would like to note close cooperation and joint work with Sergey Luchkin, Alexander Egorov, Sarkis Dagesyan, and Artem Grebenko. My warmest thanks for the help with the organization of experimental work from the related laboratories of professors: Iskander Akhatov, Keith J. Stevenson, and Albert Nasibulin.

I want to thank the Skoltech committee members and staff of Student Affairs for the opportunity to defend this thesis. I express my sincere gratitude to all opponents for the qualified and objective reviews, positive attitude, and advice that allowed me to significantly improve my dissertation and better understand the importance of the work I performed.

No one has been more important to me in the implementation of this project than the members of my family. I am incredibly grateful to my parents, Elena and Vladimir, for their love, caring, understanding, kind attitude to life, and continuing support to complete this research work.

Table of Contents

Abstract	4
List of Publications	
Author's contribution	
List of Conferences	
Acknowledgments	
List of Symbols, Abbreviations	12
Chapter 1. Introduction	14
1.1 Research Background and Motivation	14
1.1.1 Sulfonimide dendrimers as a substance of interest	15
1.1.2 Towards sulfonimide dendrimer films	20
1.1.3 Previous achievements in dendrimer film formation	22
1.2 Research objectives	24
Chapter 2. Review of the Literature	26
2.1 Dendrimer chemistry	
2.1.1 A brief historical overview of dendrimers as a new class of synthetic	
macromolecules	26
2.1.2 Basic concepts in the chemistry of dendrimers	27
2.1.3 The main approaches to the synthesis of dendritic macromolecules	
2.1.4 Types of dendrimers	35
2.1.5 Synthesis of sulfonimide-based dendrimers	37
2.1.6 Properties of dendrimer	38
2.1.7 Application of dendrimers	39
2.1.8 Patenting sector for dendrimers	43
2.2 Langmuir-Blodgett Films	45
2.2.1 Historical overview	45
2.2.2 Dendrimer molecules as a monomer for Langmuir films	46
2.2.3 Film formation procedure	48
2.2.4 Film analysis and characterization technique	49

2.2.5 Factors affecting the quality of Langmuir-Blodgett films	50
Chapter 3. Dendrimer synthesis. Result and Discussion	
3.1 The general approach to the synthesis of sulfonimide-based dendrimers	
3.1.1 Selection of the core molecule	
3.1.2 Functionalization of sulfonimide-based dendrimers with	
terminal naphthalene groups	54
3.1.3 Synthesis of 2 nd generation of sulfonimide-based dendrimer	
3.1.4 Synthesis of 3 rd generation of sulfonimide-based dendrimer	
3.1.5 Synthesis of 4^{th} and 5^{th} generation of sulfonimide-based dendrimer	59
Chapther 4. Film preparation and characterization	
4.1 Film preparation	
4.1.1 Selection of monomeric units	66
4.1.2 Control of film formation by measuring π - A isotherms	69
4.1.3 Selection of substrates for film deposition	73
4.1.4 Deposition methods	73
4.2 Film analysis	
4.2.1 Thickness measurement	77
4.2.2 Young's modulus measurement	78
4.2.3 UV spectroscopy	79
4.2.4 Contact angle measurement	80
4.2.5 Studies of nonlinear optical interaction in dendrimer monolayer	83
Conclusion	86
Future work/ Directions	88
Appendix Experimental section	
A.1 Reagents and methods	
A.2 Procedures	
Bibliography	

List of Symbols, Abbreviations

AcOH - acetic acid

- AFM atomic force microscopy
- BAM brewster angle microscope

CH₂Cl₂ - dichloromethane

DMF - dimethylformamide

EtOH - ethanol

G - generation

N₂H₄ - hydrazine

Fe - iron

FeCl₃-C - iron (III) chloride - carbon

HCl - hydrochloric acid

LB film – Langmuir - Blodgett film

NMR - nuclear magnetic resonance

PAMAM - polyamidoamine

PDI - polydispersity index

PEO - polyethylene oxide

PDMA - poly (N,N-dimethylacrylamide)

POPAM - poly (propylene amine)

PPI - poly (propylene imine)

K₂CO₃ - potassium carbonate

RMS - root mean square

SEM - scanning electron microscopy

3D - three-dimensional

SnCl₂*2H₂O - tin (II) chloride dihydrate

TGA - thermogravimetric analysis

TEM - transmission electron microscopy

TLC - thin-layer chromatography

Et₃N - triethylamine

2D - two-dimensional

UV - ultraviolet

Zn - zinc

GO - graphene oxide

rGO - reduced graphene oxide

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Research Background and Motivation

The quality of human life directly depends on the development of organic synthesis and the industry based on it. We need new drugs with a different spectrum of action, new monomer units for the production of plastics, fibers, and many others. We need more and more chemical compounds with useful properties. This variety of chemical structures lies in the synthesis of molecules that ensure the creation of new substances and materials that a person needs. Available chemical knowledge is often insufficient to arrive at the welldesigned target structure. This fact prompts chemists to develop new chemical reactions and optimize the condition of already existed ones. Problems associated with structural analysis of the new chemical species drive, in turn, develop both experimental techniques and computational methods. In the era of multidisciplinary science, the synthesis of a new, previously unknown substance is no scientific interest; therefore, chemists are thinking ahead about the potential application of their synthesized structures. One of the exciting applications of organic molecules, in my opinion, is surface engineering.

Surface functionalization by its modification using chemical compounds has been known for many years, always aiming at improving specific responses of material when interacting with its environment. However, the creation of thin monolayer networks possessing well-defined repeating fragments, mechanically stable enough to cover the surface of materials with the nanometer scale's thickness, has been a challenge for chemists. The reason to consider films a few nanometers thick is the capability of imparting outstanding properties to the surface without changing its inherent properties, such as color, transparency, and morphology. Although some work has been done in this direction, there is still not enough preliminary information to prove the existence of such films and their characterization. Therefore, the development of new monomeric molecules and chemical methods for optimizing surface properties, which afford the specific bonding and adhesion of particular molecules or molecular groups on the surface, is a big challenge of today's research but can be useful in many fields.

The research presented here will be split into two main directions, each of which may be divided into multiple subtasks. The main research directions are (i) synthesis precisely designed dendritic architectures and (ii) dendrimer film formation and investigation. These topics will be discussed separately in the following.

1.1.1 Sulfonimide dendrimers as substances of interest

Dendrimers are repeatedly multibranched compounds. Unlike conventional linear polymers, dendrimers have high structural purity, and their preparation consists of multiple synthetic steps rather than a single polymerization reaction. All dendritic structures contain the core, branching points, the number of which indicates the generation number of a dendrimer, and terminal groups. Latter determine, to a large extent, the properties and applications of a dendrimer.¹ Dendrimers are now thirty years old.² The numerous research groups contributed to developing new dendrimer types and their potential applications. Figure 1 illustrates the increasing number of publications on dendrimers in the last two decades in broad fields and materials science. Moreover, this growth is expected to continue.



Figure 1. The number of articles related to dendrimer investigation, according to the Scopus database.

This growing interest can be explained by the fact that dendrimers are important in chemistry, biology, medicine, biotechnology, pharmaceutical, and food industries.^{3,4} Moreover, dendrimers play an essential role in the investigation of nanoobjects such as nanoparticles. ⁵ Their physicochemical properties, such as monodispersity, multivalency, and spherical shape, distinguish them from classic polymers and allocate them as a separate class of molecules. Thanks to their inner cavities, dendrimers can create a suitable environment for stabilizing nanoparticles, directly synthesized from metal salts.⁶ Despite these properties, very few products using dendrimers, and only one drug has reached the market.⁷ The main reason beyond this is an undeveloped synthesis of dendrimers. The absence of a highly efficient synthesis method and the difficulties in purifying an increasingly branched macromolecule have inhibited their transfer from academia to industry. Since many dendrimers have already been obtained and investigated, the amount of information available in the literature is continuously growing. Therefore, we mainly focus on a specific type of dendrimer molecules, namely, sulfonimide-based dendrimers, which contain sulfonimide groups at each branching point. Figure 2 schematically shows the structure of target sulfonimide-based dendrimer where the core is a nitrogen atom, branching points are sulfonimide groups, and naphthalene is a terminal functional group.



Figure 2. A schematic representation of the 2^{nd} (G2) generation of the sulfonimide-based dendrimer in the form of a planar graph. (Note: the numbers of the generations shown in this scheme are generally admitted for sulfonimide dendrimers. However, following the traditional nomenclature G2 in the Scheme corresponds to G1)

Sulfonimide-based dendrimers were chosen as the materials of interest due to their unique properties, which are absent in other similar branched macromolecules. ⁸ Among other polybranched compounds, sulfonimide dendrimers possess high melting (>150°C) temperatures, while sulfonimide-based dendronized polymers have high glass transition temperatures (>130°C). Additionally, aromatic sulfonimides are chemically stable. A combination of these properties fits for applications where materials should be stable in the range of temperatures 120–130°C. The main advantage of dendrimers is assigning the desired features by adding the various chemical groups to the dendrimer. Moreover, these substances are non-toxic and biocompatible with the human body that expands the possible application fields. ⁹ Based on the described characteristic properties of dendrimers in general and for sulfonimide dendrimers in particular, it is possible to identify the main directions shown in Figure 3 for the potential use of sulfonimide dendrimers depending on outer and inner shell functionalization.



Figure 3. An overview of the possible application of sulfonimide dendrimers depending on outer shell functionalization.

One of the dendrimers' most attractive applications is the formation of thin films on their basis, which impart a useful property to the surface. The properties that can be imparted to a surface using thin films are divided into physicochemical, mechanical, optical, and electrical. This dissertation is devoted to the synthesis and deposition of thin films made from dendrimers, which impart water-repellent properties to surfaces. Each material has its industrial water-repellent coating, the composition of which is adapted for application to a specific surface. There are several hydrophobic coatings currently in active use, such as silicone coatings, silicon-organic solid, wax coatings, Teflon coatings, fatty acid salts, and other substances. The thickness of existing water-repellent surfaces very often varies

in wide ranges and can reach up to 5 mm, which leads to a corresponding consumption of material for creating such a film. Also, with such large thicknesses of coatings, the material itself can lose its properties, such as transparency, reflectivity, hardness, etc. Therefore, from a rational point of view, I would like to use the amount of material necessary to create an effective film while not violating the original material properties. Wettability is an easily observed surface property. Water covers evenly over the "hydrophilic" surface and forms droplets on the "hydrophobic" surface. Thus, the material's wettability can be quantified by measuring the contact angle of the water drop on the surface of the material. In high humidity conditions, water can accumulate on the surface of metals and painted coatings destroying the surface layer, which negatively affects materials' quality. Also, the accumulation of water on transparent surfaces such as glass can lead to poor visibility in excess moisture conditions. Therefore, structured and chemically functionalized interfaces with hydrophobic properties are growing interest in technical and medical applications. One way to create such interfaces is the usage of dendrimers, modeled in a particular way. For example, the surface chemistry of a single molecular layer can change wettability by hydrophobization of the outer shell of the dendrimer.

Typically, the literature describes the use of the most prevalent chemical groups for hydrophobic functionalization, among them relatively short regular or branched alkyl groups (up to 6 carbons), long alkyl chains (more than eight carbons), ¹⁰ long perfluoroalkyl chains, ¹¹ siloxanes, ¹² aryl alkyl, and aryl groups. ¹³ Also, various phenyl-based aromatic groups (naphthalene, anthracene) can exhibit hydrophobic properties, but they are practically not used for hydrophobization. In this work, it was decided to decorate the target sulfonimide dendrimers with naphthyl groups, which on one side can give hydrophobic properties, but are also undergoing dimerization under the influence of UV radiation that provides an additional opportunity for film formation and stabilization. Finally, the dendrimer synthesis's primary goal has been shifted from approaching as large as a possible number of generations to the rigorous control over the shape and selective functionalization. In our case, continuous generation growth allows increasing

the number of outer shell functional groups (naphthyl) groups and, as a result, possibly enhancing the films' hydrophobic properties. At the time of research in the literature, the fourth generation of sulfonimide dendrimers was the highest one. Thus, we set ourselves to achieve at least the fifth generation using the approach we worked out and finding out the generation limit.

1.1.2 Towards sulfonimide dendrimer films

The ability to modify the surface by applying films is essential in many different areas of nanotechnology. Over recent years, dendrimers have been appealing materials as detecting agents, targeting components, imaging agents, or pharmaceutically active compounds.⁹ As mentioned above, dendrimers, because of their useful properties and the possibility of functionalizing the outer shell, can be used as materials for surface coatings. Surface modification with a nanoscopic layer of organic molecules can change the interface's properties in a controlled manner.¹⁴ Moreover, the organic molecules are priority materials for creating structured monolayers because they demonstrate an active response to various outside conditions (temperature, pressure, external pollutants, and target molecules). The modifying layer may impart any chemical or physical property required to satisfy the requirements of the end application, or it may be used to study the fundamental phenomenon. There are many methods for creating and depositing surface films from solution substantially thicker than a monolayer on various materials such as spin coating, dip coating, and drop-casting. In addition to the fact that the deposited films in these ways have a large thickness, these methods do not control the process of film formation and require a large amount of substance. Therefore, the choice of method usually depends on the more desirable properties and characteristics of the interface transmitted by the modifier. Besides the diversity of film formation methods from solutions and deposition to surfaces, the thesis is devoted to one of the attractive technologies for solving film formation and deposition problems, such as the Langmuir-Blodgett method. The main advantages of this technique are:

> Precise control of the number of applied layers during the deposition process.

 \succ The ability to design complicated, layered ensembles.

▶ Homogeneous film deposition on a solid substrate.

> The method is implemented under normal conditions: does not require creating a vacuum, the presence of high temperatures and pressures.

The ability to receive mono- and multilayers based on deposition technique and various substances.

This study is devoted to demonstrating the possibility of the formation and transfer of thin sulfonimide dendrimers films of different generations to solid surfaces using the Langmuir-Blodgett technique.

Langmuir and Blodgett developed the most common and well-known method of forming and transferring mono- and multimolecular films with controllable particle density in the 1930s. The first films using this technique were obtained for long chains of fatty acids, such as stearic acid, arachidic acid, and their salts. ¹⁵ In 1934, Blodgett described the deposition of single-layer films on glass ¹⁶, and in 1935 she characterized multilayer monomolecular films on solid surfaces ¹⁷, which made the use of Langmuir-Blodgett layers (LB layers)¹⁸ attractive to scientists. The method is based on the interaction of amphiphilic molecules on the water's surface to create an ordered layer of molecules at the liquid-air interface.¹⁹ The oriented molecular layer is densified by applying lateral pressure using a moving barrier, causing an increase in the package's order and density to form a compact molecular layer at the air-water interface. To deposit an LB layer, a Langmuir film is transferred onto a solid substrate only by slowly passing the substrate through the film. Repeated immersion of the substrate into the water can lead to the formation of multilayer films. The orientation of the layer initially depends on the chemical composition of the substrate's surface, the type of molecule that extends to the surface of the water, and the method of transferring the film to a solid.

The surface layer of sulfonimide dendrimers was functionalized with naphthalene terminal groups (from 4 up to 32 groups for the 5th generation synthesized for the first time) that allowed forming two types of films with covalent and noncovalent bonding. The obtained noncovalent and covalent films showed the expected different contact

angles due to partial destruction of the naphthyl groups attached to the dendrimer outer side, which can bond intramolecularly or intermolecularly under UV radiation. Thus, a change in the number of naphthyl groups and UV irradiation makes it possible to control the film's hydrophobic properties.

Monolayers can demonstrate new properties that open up new areas for the application of these materials. Langmuir layers still can be used in the manufacture of modern electronics ²⁰ and optic devices ²¹, chemical and biochemical sensors ²², biological membranes for creating high ordered structural coatings and molecule adsorption processes. ²³

1.1.3 Previous achievements in dendrimer film formation

Nanotechnology's most crucial task is to learn how to embed organic molecules into various ordered structures and layers as new functional elements. Dendrimers can be such attractive organic molecules embedded in coatings. The decision to use dendrimers as monomers to create a film and transfer it to the surface of materials was dictated by the positive experience of other scientific groups working in this direction. There are several examples of the usage of dendrimer molecules as additives to existing coatings to improve their properties or give new functionality to surfaces in the literature. ^{24,25,26} Due to their specific shape and size, dendrimers are of interest as templates. The dendrimer can be sewn into the net along with a polymer matrix of a different chemical nature and then chemically or thermally removed. This method opens up prospects for obtaining materials with monodisperse nanoporous structure and low dielectric permeability.²⁷ Another promising area for the use of crosslinked systems based on dendrimers is getting thin layers. An important feature of monolayers based on dendrimers is their calibrated thickness, determined by dendrimers' size. High functionality and dense globular structure of dendrimers suggest using layers such as coatings with unique barrier properties, modifiers of the chemical nature of the surface, and chemical sensors.

Moreover, studying dendrimers' behavior on the surface provides new data on their

physical and chemical properties and characteristic interactions with surfaces of different nature.

O. Ozturk et al. in 2005 published an article on the deposition of a film of 4th generation polyamidoamine dendrimer and the same dendrimer encapsulating Pt particles onto a gold surface. ²⁸ Dendrimer films were prepared by delivering the dendrimer solution to the Au surface and evaporating the solvent in a stream of dry nitrogen gas. Based on the average surface area covered by the dendrimer film, the density, and the concentration of dendrimer deposited, the average thicknesses of the films were approximately 200-300 nm. The study aimed to analyze the effect of encapsulating agents (in this case, platinum) on the thermal decomposition rate of the dendrimer layer.

In recent work, dendrimer films with a conjugated microporous polymer were created to give excellent sensitivity to volatile organic compounds. The polymer matrix is fluorescent sensing material, but the aggregation caused quenching behavior due to π - π stacking results in significantly reduced photo functionality and fluorescence sensitivity of the polymer. For enhancing the sensing properties of polymer films for better response, high-density electro-active "branches" dendrimers were added.²⁹

Another example is building a self-assembled layer reduced graphene oxide-PAMAM dendrimer for drug sense. Graphene oxide (GO), due to the presence of oxygencontaining functional groups, can be easily decorated with biomolecules and, concerning electrical conductivity, can be reduced to produce more stable reduced graphene oxide (rGO). Some residual oxygen groups on the rGO surface may benefit from chemical functionalization with primary amine ($-NH_2$) extending them to be hydrophilic and increasing its interfacial binding to target materials, thus making it more applicable as a sensing platform for virus detection. Since PAMAM dendrimers are decorated with amino-terminal groups, the combination of polyamidoamine dendrimer (PAMAM) in the form of globules in rGO provides excellent opportunities for increasing detection sensitivity.³⁰

Chen Wang et al. reported a new ionic rectification device fabricated by assembling a gold nanoparticles network on the surface of nanoporous anodic aluminum oxide

membrane for the ability of enhanced bioanalysis by sensitive capture and detection of circulating tumor cells. Sensitive and selective cell capture plays an essential role in the diagnostics and treatment of cancer. Dendrimer (poly (amidoamine) (PAMAM)) was used as the linkers to connect gold nanoparticles, forming dendrimer nanoparticles network film. Thanks to the high surface-to-volume ratio of the gold nanoparticles and the high density of binding sites of PAMAM, the network has more surface area and can expose more functional groups. The presence of amino groups on the surface promotes anion selectivity. ³¹

By the way, in many well-known existing works, as noted above, dendrimers are mainly used **as additives and linkers rather than independent monomers** for film construction. As **methods for applying dendrimers**, the usual spreading of the dendrimer solution to the surface and subsequent drying in the air (drop-casting. dip-coating) are used, which are not characterized by control. These methods **do not control the film thickness** and create thin films since the thickness of the resulting layers was from 200 to 400 nm. Besides, there is no information in the literature on the preparation of films based on sulfonimide dendrimers.

1.2 Research objectives

Based on the available information in the literature, our capabilities, and desires, the research work presented in this dissertation was divided into two parts: synthetic and applied. We took the first step in synthesizing dendritic molecules based on sulfonimide with the idea of providing a set of readily available, intelligently formed structures. We selectively functionalized dendritic platforms for complex applications in science and technology.

The first goal of this PhD project was to achieve a higher generation of designed sulfonimide dendrimers using a simple, selective two-step synthesis that does not require a complex protecting group strategy. High generations are interesting for creating high functionality, which further determines the application field of a synthesized dendrimer. To achieve this goal, several tasks have been set:

1) Selection of appropriate core molecule

2) Perform multistep synthesis sulfonimide dendrimers of the second, third, and fourth generations, decorated with naphthyl functional groups

3) Reach the fifth generation of sulfonimide dendrimer containing 32 naphthyl groups for the first time

4) Optimize the synthesis condition to isolate a gram-scale of substances

5) Carry out purification of the final products

6) Confirm the resulting structures using NMR and mass spectrometry

As one of the applications of the obtained sulfonimide structures, it was planned to use them to prepare and characterize thin films made up of synthesized dendrimers and transferred to various surfaces. In practice, these films can be interesting for changing the properties of polar hydrophilic surfaces to the opposite - hydrophobic ones using minimal amounts of a substance.

The second goal of the project was to show the applicability of sulfonimide dendrimers to prepare films capable of influencing surface properties. In this regard, several tasks were set:

1) Formation of sulfonimide dendrimer films of the second to fifth generations on the water/air interface using the Langmuir apparatus

2) Study of the effect of UV radiation on the process of stabilization of the obtained layers

3) Deposition of created films on different substrates (glass, silicon, mica, copper grids)

4) Characterization of the films by microscopic tools (optical, AFM, SEM, TEM)

5) Measuring thickness, Young's modulus, contact angles, and nonlinear optical properties of obtained films.

Thus, the achievement of these goals will allow us not only to make progress in the synthesis of dendrimeric structures but also to open new niches for the use of sulfonimide dendrimers for functional surface formation.

Chapter 2. Review of the Literature

2.1 Dendrimer chemistry

2.1.1 A brief historical overview of dendrimers as a new class of synthetic macromolecules

The first mention of substances similar to dendrimer structures referred to 1974 when Vögtle and his colleagues described the use of branched molecules called "octopus molecules" in host-guest interaction with metal ions. ³² Four years later, the same group of scientists described the sequential synthesis of a $1\rightarrow 2$ branched dendrimer structure, called "cascade molecules" based on propylamine molecules ³³ via repetitive steps. ³⁴ The term "cascade" was chosen because it evokes analogies to the repetitive branching of the arms, and with some justification, this type of molecule could have been called dendritic. These molecules were synthesized divergently, utilizing two branching motifs. Further synthesis of new dendrimer structures developed slowly due to the complexity of synthetic procedures and conditions selection. Only in 1981, Denkewalter, together with colleagues, described the synthesis of dendrimers with polylysine branches. The method of obtaining polylysine dendrimers was patented, the product was proposed to be used as metal chelating agents and as substrates for the preparation of pharmaceutical dosages. ^{35,36} Dendrimers were interesting not only for synthesis but also for the investigation of the spatial structure. In 1982, the concept of dense packing of dendrimer structures was described.³⁷ Based on an analysis of statistical models, in 1983, de Jenne and Herve demonstrated limits on the growth of branched molecules due to the influence of steric effects. ³⁸ In 1985, Tomalia developed branched polyamidoamines (PAMAMs), coined, and propagated the name "dendrimer", synthesized using a similar mechanism as described by Vögtle et al., but a numerous repetition of the coupling reaction sequence led to the appearance of dendrimers up to the tenth generation - with a decrease in purity and perfection. ^{2,39} PAMAM dendrimers were obtained by a divergent method involving

the $1\rightarrow 2$ branching motif, which means every branching point is capable of attaching two branches or terminal groups. ⁴⁰

In 1985, the synthesis of a water-soluble dendrimer containing hydroxyl end groups was presented by Newkome et al. ^{41,42} Newkome and co-workers demonstrated a divergent synthetic route to water-soluble, highly branched "arborol systems" with terminal hydroxyl groups. In this case, the $1\rightarrow3$ branching motif was utilized. In the same year, dendrimers containing aromatic hydrocarbons were synthesized. ^{43,44} Percec and co-workers described an original convergent synthesis of four generations of dendrons with the $1\rightarrow3$ branching motif based on the AB₃ building block methyl 3,4,5-trishydroxybenzoate. ⁴⁵ Müllen and co-workers reported the four-fold Diels–Alder reaction of functionalized tetraphenylcyclopentadienone (the so-called A₄B building block) with tetraethynylbiphenyl leading to the first and thus far only type of dendrimer with a $1 \rightarrow 4$ branch-ing motif. ⁴⁶

As you can see, the initial development of the chemistry of dendrimers over 20 years yielded good results for the further design, synthesis, and even possible application of dendritic molecules. The number of scientific publications in dendrimer chemistry continues to grow year by year and gives scientists inspiration for their further investigation.

2.1.2 Basic concepts in the chemistry of dendrimers

Dendrimers are unique classes of polymeric macromolecules, composed of the core, branched monomers, internal cavities, and functional surface characterized by high monodispersity, good biocompatibility, and multivalency. ⁴⁷ According to their narrow molecular mass distribution, dendrimers occupy an intermediate position between low molecular weight compounds and high molecular weight compounds. Due to the periodic repeatability of branching points, dendrimeric structures are called fractals. ⁴⁸ The schematic representation of the dendrimer structure with main structural parts, including generation numbers, is shown in Figure 4. ¹



Figure 4. Schematic representation of a dendrimer structure with the key components.

The main structural components of dendrimer include the core, branching points, and terminal or functional groups. The multiplicity of the core and branching units determine the shape and the size of the dendrimer. In some cases, the core can assign a particular function to the dendrimer molecule. Increasing the number of branches increases the number of generations designed as the number of layers fastened to the core and marked as Gn, where n can vary from 0 to 12.⁴⁹ If a dendrimer is made by divergent synthesis, and the branching reactions are carried onto the core molecule two times, the resulting dendrimer is considered a second-generation dendrimer and so one.

Moreover, the nature of branching points influences the stability of the molecule itself, the presence of internal voids, and their ability to accommodate guest molecules. The ends group creates the periphery of the molecule and gives unique properties to the dendrimers, such as low/high solubility in different solvents, viscosity, and conformational stability. One of the advantages of the dendrimers, along with other macromolecules, is the presence of an enormous amount of terminal groups, which grows exponentially amplify the desired properties.

2.1.3 The main approaches to the synthesis of dendritic macromolecules

According to the fact that there is an exponential growth of new synthesized chemical compounds ⁵⁰, the methods for their preparation are still essential, and research and development aimed at improving the processes have not lost their relevance. An analysis of the dendrimer chemical structures and synthesis methods presently available reveals that the synthetic aspects have not been fully explored yet. One of the synthetic issues worth exploring is dendrimers with large aromatic and shape-persistent branches. The reduced flexibility of such structures, together with their chemical inertness, is expected to lead to an exciting addition to the research field in terms of high melting and glass-transition temperatures and possibly new options for chemical modification.

Despite the existence of numerous works on the synthesis of dendrimers, much remains desirable in this regard. There is still a need for even higher generations of all types of dendrimers, as well as for high-performance and optimized synthesis of individual families of dendrimers endow them with to new targeted mono and multifunctionalization. Besides, the development of new various innovative building blocks for the synthesis of dendrimers is essential. Historically, two key synthetic routes to dendrimers known as divergent and convergent have emerged.

2.1.3.1 Divergent synthesis

The divergent route initially formulated by Vögtle ³³ and then developed independently by Newkome ^{42,51} and Tomalia ⁴⁰ involves repetitive steps of a gathering of monomeric units around a core scaffold structure by coupling and activation reactions. The divergent synthesis method includes a sequential increase in dendrimer generations from the multifunctional core to the periphery. ¹ Therefore, in a divergent way, an important parameter is the core unit molecule because it determines a successful chain growth process, the number of branching points, and the stability of the dendrimer itself. This approach is quite efficient, easy to perform, optimize, and allows to achieve a large scale

production of the target compounds in contrast to the alternatively used convergent method. The divergent synthesis typically involves the use of inexpensive commercial reagents at each repetitive step resulting in a rapid increase in the mass of the end products with the growth of dendrimer generations. Also, divergent techniques applicable to the synthesis of high generations of the dendrimer. The main disadvantage of this approach is the presence of side reactions that lead to imperfect dendrimer structures and require a purification procedure. From the applied viewpoint, the small defects in high generation dendrimers occurring from either incomplete functionalization or some side processes during the divergent synthesis can be neglected because the synthesis provides essentially monodisperse materials. To minimize this drawback, it is necessary to use a large excess of reagents, extend reaction time, and check the quality of all intermediates. At a certain saturation point, the number of end groups becomes very large, and they will not be able to react further; this gives a limitation for further generation growth by the divergent method. Moreover, the presence of a large number of unreacted dendrimers can make the process of purification of the final product difficult. ⁵² The schematic representation of the divergent route up to the 4th generation of the dendrimer is shown in Figure 5. 53



Figure 5. The schematic representation of the divergent synthesis of dendrimers.

Despite some imperfections of this method, the large-scale synthesis of commercially available dendrimers, such as poly(amidoamine), poly(propylene imine), phosphorus-based dendrimers, etc. is carried out by the divergent approach.

2.1.3.2 Convergent synthesis

The convergent dendrimer synthesis devised by Hawker and Frechet ⁴⁴ and by Miller and Neenan ⁴³ starts with the synthesis of a dendron, which is a wedge-shaped branched species containing one functional group at its focal point and ends by attaching a few dendrons to a multifunctional core. In the convergent method, the synthesis starts from the periphery and ends up at the core. The convergent route allows for complete control over the structural integrity of the dendrimers. In this case, the byproducts of incomplete substitution are easily removed from the target species on account of significant differences in their molecular weights. This method allows to avoid the complicated process of purification and usually leads to higher generation dendrimers. The size and shape of the dendrimer can be tuned by selecting appropriate cores. Although convergent synthesis often uses costly dendrons, it allows producing designer-type dendrimers for specific applications. Using convergent synthesis, we can better control the process, eliminating structural defects. Still, at the same time, the final stage of synthesis may be challenging to proceed due to the steric effect. ⁴⁴ The schematic representation of the convergent route up to the 3rd generation of the dendrimer is shown in Figure 6. ⁵³



Figure 6. The schematic representation of the convergent synthesis of dendrimers.

Both methods of dendrimer synthesis have their advantages and drawbacks. Thus, the divergent synthesis allows for the fast growth of dendrimer generations and an increase in the mass of the products using at each stage inexpensive commercial reagents. However, the method tends to generate defect structures at higher generations on account of an incomplete functionalization of the dendrimer periphery. ⁵⁴ The convergent route allows for complete control over the structural integrity of the dendrimer but uses very costly dendrons and often suffers from some incomplete attachments of sizable dendrons to a core due to steric inhibition at the focal point that tends to be wrapped by the branches. However, the small defects in high generation dendrimers occurring from either incomplete functionalization or some side processes during the divergent synthesis can be neglected because the synthesis provides essentially monodisperse materials (usually polydispersity index PDI 1.08 according to the gel-permeation chromatography analyses) and fully reproducible physicochemical properties. ⁵⁵ Consequently, the largescale preparation of commercial dendrimers, such as poly(amidoamine) (PAMAM), poly(propylene imine) (PPI), ^{56,57} phosphorus-based ⁵⁸ dendrimers, is carried out via the divergent approach.

2.1.3.3 Double-stage convergent method

In cases requiring a more complicated structure, one may use a combination of the two methods of synthesis called a double-stage convergent way, where the synthesis of building blocks performs with the divergent approach followed by the convergent dendrimer assembly. ^{59,60} The schematic representation of the divergent route is shown in Figure 7. ⁵³ As you can see from the picture, the first step includes the creation of low-generation multifunctional dendrimer with external coupling sites obtained by divergent synthesis, and the second step consists of the synthesis of a small dendron with an active functional group at the focal point. The resulting reaction consists of the coupling of these two molecules together produced by the convergent route.



Figure 7. The schematic representation of the combined convergent and divergent synthesis of dendrimers.

This allows creating a needed higher-generation monodisperse dendrimer structure with individual branching points, the number of generations, and specific functional terminal groups modifying their biological and chemical activities.

2.1.3.4 Hypermonomer method

In this method, the number of terminal groups increases faster due to $1 \rightarrow 4$ branching with hypermonomeric synthetic building blocks. Four branching units AB4 with an active

functional group at the focal point react with active coupling groups of the core molecule, as shown in Figure 8. ^{53,61}



Figure 8. The schematic representation of the hypermonomer method.

2.1.3.5 Click chemistry method

Principles of click chemistry were first fully described by K. Barry Sharpless in 2001 in which smaller units are joined together by heteroatom bonds C–X–C where X is heteroatom ⁶². The "click reaction" is characterized by high chemical yields; commercially available starting compounds; easily removable or inoffensive by-products; easy product isolation and purification; stereospecific. ⁶³ Click chemistry employs three types of reactions for the synthesis of dendrimer: Diels-Alder reactions, ⁶⁴ thiol-yne reactions, and azide-alkyne reactions. ⁶²

Two of the essential goals in the synthesis of dendrimers that should be reached shortly are further development in the target-specific synthetic methodology and the preparation of multigram quantities of these compounds. The achievement of these goals is related to increased control over the selectivity and efficiency of chemical reactions that would allow obtaining dendrimers in fast, simple, high-yield, and purification-free processes.

2.1.4 Types of dendrimers

Dendrimer can be classified based on their shape, branching units, generation number, and method of synthesis. ⁶⁵ Figure 9 demonstrates the classification of dendrimers.



Figure 9. Different types of dendrimers.

With regard to modifications, more than 200 types of dendrimer molecules have been synthesized, among them five widespread families such as polyamide amine (PAMAM), polypropylene imine (PPI), phosphorus, carbosilane, and polylysine dendrimers. Low generations of dendrimers (1st- 4th) mostly have a planar shape. Still, with the increasing number of generations from 5th to 10th, the structure becomes more globular and densely packed at the periphery, with empty cavities inside, that makes the most promising areas for their application is targeted drug delivery of a medical substance to a given area of an organism, organ, or cell. ¹ Usually, dendrimers are classified according to the name of the chemical group at the branching point. There are several famous dendrimeric molecules named in such a way, for example, PAMAM (polyamidoamine), PPI (polypropylene)

imine), carbosilane dendrimers, peptide dendrimers, sulfonimide-based dendrimers, etc. Next, I will consider the most popular dendrimers and their individual properties.

2.1.4.1 PPI

PPI or POPAM (polypropylenimine) is a type of dendrimer with amine-terminated hyperbranched units that belongs to the most widely used representatives because it is commercially available as Astramol® of DSM company, Eindhoven, the Netherlands and Aldrich Chemical Company, Milwaukee, WI. Due to the valency of the nitrogen atom, POPAM is related to $1\rightarrow 2$ branching type, and two functional core units give 2^n terminal amino groups for generation Gn. The synthesis of PPI dendrimers is based on the divergent approach developed by Vögtle et al. in 1978, containing addition and reduction reactions. Subsequent repetitive reaction cycles allow the repeated addition of acrylonitrile, followed by reduction until the higher generation is reached. ⁶⁶ Due to their amino-terminal groups, PPI dendrimers can be easily functionalized with fluorescent dansyl groups ⁶⁷, ferrocene, cobaltocenium units ⁶⁸, aza-crown ethers ⁶⁹, and various other.

2.1.4.2 PAMAM

PAMAM dendrimers were the first dendrimer structures that have been synthesized and investigated. PAMAM (polyamidoamine) dendrimers contain the amide bonds in the molecule. According to the valency of the nitrogen atom, PAMAM is related to $1\rightarrow 2$ branching types. In 1985, Tomalia modified the synthetic methodology of Vögtle et al. for the divergent preparation of PAMAM dendrimers by replacing the acrylonitrile reagent used in Michael's addition by methyl acrylate and starting from ammonia or ethylenediamine initiator core reagents. Dendrimers up to ten generations have been obtained in such a way. The PDI of G5-G10 PAMAM dendrimers is less than 1.08, which means that the particle size distribution is uniform for each generation. PAMAM
dendrimers are commercially available as Dendritech®, Michigan, (USA) distributed by Aldrich. These are spheroidal or ellipsoidal in shape. ³⁹ It has high solubility and reactivity due to the incidence of several functional end groups and empty internal cavities. ^{70,71} Due to the presence of a positive charge on the surface, PAMAM dendrimers are good candidates for the condensation of biological molecules. ⁷²

2.1.4.3 Peptide dendrimers

Peptide dendrimers are branched macromolecules that contain a peptide branching core or peripheral peptide chains. ⁷² Peptide dendrimers are divided into three types. The first type has peptides only as surface functionalities, the second category composed of amino acids; the third one has amino acids in the branching core and surface functional groups but having non-peptide branching units. Divergent and convergent methods are mainly used for the synthesis of peptide dendrimers. Peptide dendrimers have been used in industry as surfactants, and in the biomedical field as drug and gene delivery.

2.1.4.4 Hybrid dendrimers

Hybrid dendrimers are a combination of dendritic and linear polymers that structures are possible due to a spherical shape and many surface functional groups of dendrimers. For example, "POMAM dendrimers" ⁷³ are a structural hybrid of combination POPAM and PAMAM dendrimers. The synthesis POMAM started with activation of the amino groups of POPAM via palladium-catalyzed hydrogenation and further reaction with a succinimide ester provide higher-generation POMAM dendrimers.

2.1.5 Synthesis of sulfonimide-based dendrimers

In 2006, O. Lukin et al. reported ⁷⁴ the divergent synthesis of first representatives of dendrimers with a relatively compact, shape-persistent aromatic sulfonimide-type structure. In contrast to other rigid branched structures, such as poly(phenylacetylene), ⁷⁵

poly(phenylenevinylene), ⁷⁶ polyphenylene, ⁷⁷, and polythiophene ^{78,79} dendrimers, sufficient availability of commercial arylsulfonyl chlorides allows for faster and cheaper preparation of the aromatic sulfonimide-based dendrimers.⁸ The synthesis provides design dendrimers with individual branching points, ⁵² peripheral functional groups, and branching motifs ⁸⁰ by selecting the appropriate series of reaction steps. The sulfonimidebased dendrimers, unlike many other branched species, are crystalline solids with high melting points. Dendronized polymers prepared from the first- and second-generation sulfonimide-based dendrons exhibit considerably high glass-transition temperatures that lie in a range attractive for such biomedical applications where heat sterilization plays a role.⁸¹ However, at some stage, it became clear that the divergent growth of dendritic sulfonimides is limited to the fourth-generation species with considerably decreased yields at the final synthetic stages.⁸² Tewari et al. have recently reported^{83,84} a convergent synthesis of sulfonimide-based dendrimers through linking azidefunctionalized persulfonylated dendrons to propargyl functionalized cores using click chemistry. ^{85,86} Nonetheless, only first-generation dendrimers have been obtained by this procedure, highlighting the importance of the original divergent approach. Therefore, an improved method allowing a high-yield preparation of sulfonimide-based dendrimers up to the fifth generation via the divergent route was described in the present work.

2.1.6 Properties of dendrimer

The currently synthesized dendrimers and dendrite-like polymers are viscous liquids or amorphous solids that are readily soluble in most known organic solvents. To date, the physicomechanical properties of dendrimers and dendrite-like polymers have not been systematically studied. However, the structural features of the considered polymers allow us to draw certain conclusions about the general nature of these properties. Dendrimers are monodisperse, since all macromolecules at each stage of controlled synthesis increase the molecular weight by the same amount, the resulting dendrimers contain macromolecules of the same mass and size. The regularity of the structure of the dendron, the known values of bond lengths and angles allow with high accuracy to calculate the size and molecular weight of the dendritic macromolecules. For dendrimers with a strictly regular structure, such properties of polymers as fiber formation, swelling, and high viscosity of solutions are not typical. The features of dendrimers are determined by the maximum possible diameter of zero generation, the number of generations, and the structure of the skeleton of the macromolecule. A high degree of functionality creates unlimited possibilities for further transformations of dendrimer macromolecules that can lead to designing new nanoscale structures, surface modifications macromolecules.

2.1.7 Application of dendrimers

In chemistry, the discovery of new materials with desirable properties, optimizing the conditions for their production and application is an essential task of theoretical and practical interest for scientists. ⁸⁷ The perspective materials are needed to enable future technological developments in different areas such as sustainable energy-efficient processes, targeted drug delivery, sensor technology, construction, and many others. The result of such development can be cheaper, lighter, more durable, or more functional material, which can have a significant impact on our lives in the near future. ⁸⁸

Dendrimers as new materials have made an essential contribution in different fields such as biomedicine, chemistry, material science, engineering, electronics, and optics. ⁸⁹ It is not easy to distinguish between installed applications and highly promising future dendrimer chemistry options. Structurally uniform repeatedly branched molecules, called dendrimers, ^{90,44} as well as their hyperbranched ⁹¹ and dendronized ⁹² polymer congeners play a progressively significant role in many areas of basic and applied science, ^{93,94} as well as industry. The regular structure of dendrimers and the ability to control their physicochemical properties stimulate significant interest in their further development, study, and application in practice. The choice of peripheral groups allows you to change the chemical, physical, and biological functionality of macromolecules.

The high functional group density at the periphery of dendrimers, high branching combined with control over the molecular structure, makes these synthetic materials a highly useful resource for sensing,^{95,96,97} and surface-active ^{98,99} applications. Moreover, dendrimer molecules have nanoscale dimensions, globular surface, and exciting properties, like low viscosity, high solubility, and reactivity, in combination with the high functionalities, make them prospective candidates in different fields. ¹⁰⁰ The widespread applications of dendrimer include gene therapy, chemical sensors ¹⁰¹, drug delivery system, adhesive additives, and coatings, light-harvesting material, catalyst, electronic applications, separating agents. ¹⁰² The use of dendrimers as additives in the field of catalysis, sensory technologies, medical diagnostics is the most relevant at present and attracts most researchers. Existing applications of dendrimers and potential applications at the different planning stages are described further concerning their properties.

2.1.7.1 Dendrimer in medicine

Unlike polymers, structural accuracy and, therefore, more uniform dendrimer properties determine them for applications in the biomedical sector. Dendrimers are non-toxic substances, have good solubility, low viscosity, which makes them attractive as biological agents for the medical field. The targeted guest molecules can be attached to the periphery of the dendrimer via functional groups or located in the internal voids of the dendrimer. For example, well-studied PAMAM dendrimers can be used to target cell tumors. ¹⁰³ Dendrimer based metal chelates can be applied as magnetic resonance imaging contrasting agents. ¹⁰⁴ The dendrimer molecule as a contrast agent was used as a diagnostic reagent to identify the tumor using magnetic resonance. ¹⁰⁵

Szoka and Haensler¹⁰⁶ demonstrated applications of PAMAM dendrimers for gene transfection. DNA and organic molecules can be attached to dendrimers and directed to the cell nucleus. The multifunctionality of dendrimers makes them useful as agents for targeted drug delivery of a medical substance to a given area of an organism, organ, or cell. ⁹ The presence of internal cavities for the drug storage and external functional groups for attaching drug molecules have made their application in pharmaceutical and medicinal chemistry particularly attractive. Drug molecules can be attached to the

dendrimer via end groups or can be stored in the internal cavities of a dendrimer. The reason why scientists are looking for new agents for the transport of drug molecules is the imperfection of existing ones. There is still demand new transport systems that will have a high degree of affinity to the human body, affinity to different types of drug molecules, and penetration through the cell membranes. In addition to drug transfer, dendrimers help to overcome some difficulties, for example, low bioavailability, insolubility, toxicity, and decomposition of the drug under biological conditions. ¹⁰⁷ So far, PAMAM dendrimers were investigated for oral, ocular, and pulmonary drug delivery. ^{108,109} Along with these capabilities, dendrimers can also be used for increasing the solubility of dosage forms. Due to the hydrophilic periphery and exterior, dendrimers can dissolve poorly soluble drugs by its encapsulation in dendritic molecules. ¹¹⁰

2.1.7.2 Dendrimers as additives. Printing inks and paints

The monodisperse "tree-like" structure of dendrimers can be used as additives in toners for color printing. The toners with dendrimer additives can be applied efficiently and uniformly to the surface of the paper, which is essential for printing technology. Moreover, such toners will require less material than their available analogs. Companies producing printing inks are interested in such additives because by adding a dendrimer, a high uniform adhesion of the inks to the surface is achieved, which will significantly reduce ink consumption and reduce the cost of printing. Moreover, in addition to sufficient adhesion to the surface, the ability of dendrimer molecules to form strong bonds with pigment molecules improves print quality. Highly branched dendritic polymers are also used as rheology modifiers; for example, the addition of highly branched polyesters affects the viscosity and surface tension of some compositions. Unlike linear polymers, low viscosity and high molecular density of dendrimer favor their use as an additive in dental chemistry. In this area, materials are required to form crosslinked polymer structures on photo-polymerization of tooth fillings at room temperature with minimum possible loss of volume to avoid slot formation between filling and tooth. During each coupling step of photopolymerization, the Van-der Waals distance is reduced due to a covalent bond formation, commonly decreasing volume.

2.1.7.3 Dendrimers in the sensing technology

Another promising field of application for dendrimers is coating materials. One of the attractive areas where thin coatings can be used is sensory technology-improving the sensor efficiency related to the investigation of new materials. The sensor principle is based on the interpolation of the specific guest compound as an analyte in a coating layer consisting of suitable host molecules such as dendrimers, deposited on the different solid surfaces.¹¹¹ The most important structural properties of dendrimers to consider their use in sensors is a three-dimensional structure and numerous terminal functional groups. The ability of dendrimers to distinguish certain carbonyl compounds such as ketones, aldehydes, esters, and amides can be used to analyze aromas in foods to establish the maturity of fruit or cheese. ¹¹¹ Moreover, dendrimers show long-term stability, which is an advantage for the reproducibility of measurements. Besides food production fields, dendrimers can be used as highly selective sensors for sulfur dioxide, considered responsible for the formation of fog and acid rain. This technique of quality control of valuable products can be used in agricultural research, smart home technologies. One of the priority tasks is developing some smart sensors for refrigerators that can detect the degree of food spoilage. In this case, the dendrimer molecule can store an analyte sensitive to hydrogen sulfide release as a signal of product decomposition. Some studies consider PAMAM dendrimer-based optical sensors for determining pH and cations. ¹¹¹

2.1.7.4 Dendrimers as catalysts

The combination of high surface area, high solubility, numerous catalytic centers, and easy extraction process from the reaction mixture make dendrimers useful as nanoscale catalysts. For the efficient use of dendrimers in catalysis, it is necessary to synthesize large generation dendrimers, for increasing the number of active sites available for fixation of catalytically functional moieties.

2.1.7.5 Dendrimer as coatings

Another promising area for the use of dendrimer-based crosslinked systems is the production of thin layers. An important feature of monolayers based on dendrimers is their calibrated thickness, determined by the size of the original dendrimers. High functionality and dense globular structure of dendrimers suggest the possibility of using such layers as coatings, possessing unique barrier properties, chemical modifiers surface, chemical sensors. Also, the study of dendrimer behavior on the surface provides new data on their physical and chemical properties and features of interaction with surfaces of different nature.

Besides the above-listed application of dendrimers, further studies are needed to recognize their absorption, in-vivo stability, coating formation.

2.1.8 Patenting sector for dendrimers

To identify demand areas for dendrimer usage, I carried out a patent analysis of applications of dendrimers in different fields, the distribution according to technology shown in Figure 10. Using the Cipher patent database service (https://cipher.ai), I found 1093 active patents by using the keywords 'dendrimer' or 'dendrimers.' The searching results reveal an unusually broad area of potential industrial applications for dendrimer technology, ranging from oil, pharma, rubber, automotive, and even cosmetics. There were 48 % of active patents devoted to drug delivery systems involving dendrimer molecules. The next important application of dendrimers is their ability to be as an additive component in resin and coating compositions - 12 % of patents. Application of dendrimers in electrical and optic devices had 9 % of patents, as a film-forming polymer and cosmetic raw material - 8 % of patents.



Figure 10. Active patent (granted or pending) families, by technology, according to Cipher patent database service, 2005 - 2020.

Obtaining patents opens up opportunities for further commercialization of results of scientific research. After an analysis of areas in which dendrimer molecules can be used, I consider companies that have patents related to dendrimers and to whom the impact of dendrimer investigation will be attractive. The list of companies and the number of related patents are shown in Table 1. The medical sector is represented by the Starpharma company and the number of universities, including MIT, Tokyo Institute of Technology, and others. Companies producing computer printers and various related products like inks, cartridges, toners such as Canon inc, Industrial Technology, and Kao have related patents. The optoelectronics field is represented by Sumitomo Chemical, LP Display, Samsung Electronics, etc. More information is shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Active patent (granted or pending) families, by an organization, according toCipher patent database service, 2005 - 2020

Organisation	Active patent families
Private owner	23
L'Oreal S.A.	31
Sumitomo Chemical Corp	34
Starpharma Pty Limited	23
National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology	12
Donghua University	12
Kao Corp.	20
LP Displays Co Ltd	12
Univ Sichuan	17
Samsung Electronics Co Ltd	12
Tokyo Institute of Technology	13
Canon Inc	8
Saitama University	9
Dow Toray Co., Ltd.	8
Univ National Dong Hwa	10
Univ Zhejiang	9
Hanyang University - (Industry-University Coop. Fdn)	8
Shandong University of Technology	8
Massachusetts Institute of Technology	7
Univ Lodzki	8
Others	809
TOTAL	1093

2.2 Langmuir-Blodgett Films

2.2.1 Historical overview

The history of the development of surface chemistry originated in the late 18th century when B. Franklin studied the spreading of a drop of olive oil on the surface of the water. ¹¹² Franklin did not claim to have made a discovery; he designed the first scientific experiment with a thin oil film, made observations, and stimulated further work in the field of surface chemistry. So, at the end of the 19th century, Pockels and Rayleigh demonstrated detailed studies of monolayers on the surface of the water and their transfer to solid substrates. ^{113,114} Based on the early Franklin's observation, Rayleigh calculated

the thickness of the oil film. Agnes Pockels demonstrated a correlation between surface tension and area of films. Langmuir continued to investigate Pockels's ideas and, together with Blodgett, developed the Langmuir-Blodgett trough for film formation and deposition.¹⁷ Langmuir films are monomolecular layers of surface-active organic substances formed and located at the liquid interface (usual water) and gaseous (air) phases. If these monolayers are transferred onto a solid substrate, then a solid monomolecular or multimolecular film, called the Langmuir-Blodgett film, is obtained. The first films using this technique were obtained for long chains of fatty acids, such as stearic acid, arachidic acid, and their salts ¹⁵. These scientific outcomes were further continued in Kuhn's work ¹¹⁵ on the study of the ordering of molecules on the surface. In the field of nanomaterials, it is essential to create a uniform monolayer consisting of ordered particles in the nanoscale. Monolayers can demonstrate new properties that open up new areas for the application of these materials. Langmuir layers still can be used in the manufacture of modern electronics ^{116,117,20} and optical devices, ^{118,119,120} chemical and biochemical sensors, ^{52,121} biological membranes for creating high ordered structural coatings ¹²² and molecule adsorption processes. ^{123,124} At the moment, the priority materials for creating structured monolayers are organic molecules because they demonstrate an active response to various outside conditions (temperature, pressure, external pollutants, and target molecules). Monomolecular films at the phase boundary and multilayer solid structures (multilayers) transferred onto solid substrates have a unique set of physical properties that can be useful in various fields of chemistry, physics, and biology.

2.2.2 Dendrimer molecules as a monomer for Langmuir films

One of the exciting types of substances with fascinating architecture is dendrimers. Dendrimers are capable of not only forming stable 3D structures in solution but also tend to organize 2D molecular layers on a water-air interface. ⁵⁵ Generally, the dendrimer molecules can be modified through the outside group and focal points to manage their self-assembly and functionalization. Since dendronized polymers can retain their shape

and can be decorated with the necessary functional groups, they can be used as building monomeric blocks to create thin films using the Langmuir-Blodgett method. In the scientific literature, there are several works devoted to such experiments. Cai-Xia Cheng et al. synthesized polymer containing a hydrophilic block poly-(ethylene oxide) (PEO) and hydrophobic block of dendronized linear poly(N, N-dimethyl acrylamide) (PDMA). ¹²⁵ PEO45-b-PDMA69 films were obtained using the Langmuir - Blodgett trough, phase transitions, and film morphology at the air/water interface were studied. During this experiment, it was demonstrated that the PEO45-b-PDMA69 under compression could be stacked in close-packed worm-like micelles.

Costa et al. received a nanocomposite with intercalated poly (amidoamine) dendrimer with sodium carboxylate-terminated groups into the layered structure of hydrotalcite by anion exchange and studied the morphology of the resulting films using the Langmuir-Blodgett method. ¹²⁶ Such intercalation of various molecules in layered adhesive structures through anion exchange leads to materials with expanded functionality to be used for the synthesis of catalysts and ceramic nanocomposites.

Pengfei Duan et al. have demonstrated that with the right combination of hydrophobic and hydrophilic groups in the dendrimer, it is possible to make a surface layer of dendrimers at the water/air interface. Thus, the assembly of a dendron containing hydrophilic peripheral groups of L-glutamate and hydrophobic azobenzene in the core was investigated. The addition of cyclodextrin molecules to the surface of the dendrimer promotes host-guest interaction and can make the film photoactive. ¹²⁷

Elizabeth K. Elliott et al. demonstrated the ability to form amphiphilic peptide layers using the Langmuir-Blodgett technique. Such peptides can be integrated into phospholipid membranes and used as carriers of chlorine ions.¹²⁸

The successful preparation of Langmuir monolayers has been achieved with poly(propyleneimine) dendrimers in which the dendritic poly- (propylene imine) part acts as a polar group, and outside long alkyl chains form a hydrophobic moiety. ¹²⁹ Various authors have described Langmuir-Blodgett formation of several dendrimer monolayers,

which include PAMAM structures ²⁸, poly(propyleneimine) dendrimers ²⁹, carbazole ¹³⁰, poly(aryl ether) dendrimers. ³⁰

Also, a lot of work has been done by the world-famous Russian scientific group led by Professor Aziz Musafarov, specializing in the synthesis and application of carboxylane dendrimers of different generations decorated by phenyldioxolane, phenylethyl, and ethylene oxide structural fragments. Carbosilane dendrimers are characterized by a practically defect-free, hyperbranched structure capable of carrying many terminal functional groups that form the outer sphere of the molecule. The properties of such dendrimers are determined by the molecular parameters of the outer layer. In this group's scientific works, the influence of the density, nature, and structure of such an outer layer on the behavior and stability of dendrimers at the water-air interface has been studied in sufficient detail.¹³¹

Despite this fact, in the literature, there is still very limited data on the study of the microstructure and properties of the obtained dendrimer layers, which motivate further investigation of this issue in more detail. There is no data about the application sulfonimide- based dendrimers as a monomer for film formation

2.2.3 Film formation procedure

Langmuir - Blodgett method allows the creation and characterization of monomolecular films at the air-liquid interface and their transfer to solid substrates. The equipment commonly consists of a bath filled with aqueous subphase with high surface tension (usually water) on which a monolayer is formed, two barriers for compressing the floating monolayer, and a force sensor for measuring surface pressure. Technically, the process includes several steps: spreading, compression, and transfer. Before spreading, the bath should be overfilled with pure water; the clean surface is crucial for film formation to prevent some artifacts. After spreading the solution of the dendrimer in a volatile solvent (benzene, toluene, chloroform, $CC1_4$) on the surface of the water, it is needed to wait when the solvent is evaporated. The concentration is selected so that the area of its monolayer does not exceed the area of the working surface of the Langmuir

bath. The Langmuir trough is equipped with two barriers to limit the area of the monolayer formation; after evaporation of the solvent is finished, we can compress the monolayer by moving the barriers close to each other. During the compression, we can measure surface tension by using a wetted Wilhelmy plate. The Wilhelmy plate can be made from different materials, but the most favorable is paper a few square centimeters in area. The plate is attached to a balance with a thin metal wire. The force of the liquid pulling down on a plate is measured using a microbalance and used to measure the surface tension γ of the liquid-air interface using the Wilhelmy equation:

$$\gamma = \frac{F}{1\cos\left(\theta\right)}$$

where F - capillary force, l is the wetted perimeter equals 2w + 2d, where w is the plate width, and d is the plate thickness, θ is the contact angle between the liquid phase and the plate. ¹³² Since the paper plate is fully saturated with water, receding and expanded contact angles are zero. ¹³³ The result is obtained as surface pressure that decreases the surface tension of pure water and surface with the film. The principle of the method is shown in Figure 11.



Figure 11. The principle of the LB technique.

2.2.4 Film analysis and characterization techniques

An optical microscope usually investigates the morphology of the transferred films in a bright-field illumination set-up. This fast and straightforward technique allows seeing the film surface with its µm-sized defects as well as overall film morphology. Optical microscopy is a non-destructive and rapid method of obtaining an impression of the layer quality. To get more detailed information on the surface of the LB films, samples were investigated by electron microscopy. Electron microscopy techniques are powerful tools for the characterization of the film morphology. For instance, a transmission electron microscope (TEM) provides resolutions of 1-5 Å and identification of elements in the single-atom scale ¹³⁴. Atomic force microscope (AFM) is one of the most modern instruments for studying the morphology and local properties of a solid surface with high spatial resolution. AFM belongs to the family of probe devices that allow visualization of surfaces with atomic resolution. With AFM, one may obtain microscopic maps describing the surface topography. AFM measurements can inform about such parameters as the roughness of the surface, the friction force between the measuring edge and surface of the sample, and Young's modulus. Using this microscope, you can examine both conductive and non-conductive surfaces. In addition, the non-conductive surface examined using AFM does not require the application of a conductive metal coating, which often leads to a noticeable deformation of the surface.

2.2.5 Factors affecting the quality of Langmuir-Blodgett films

The quality of the films is affected by the installation settings, for example, the absence of mechanical vibrations, the constancy of the speed of movement of the sample or proper deposition rate, the constancy of the speed of barrier motion. Also important to create the technological purity of the experiment. For example, by controlling the purity of the starting materials, the use of distilled and deionized water as the basis of a subphase, carrying out preparatory operations, such as etching and washing the substrates, preliminary cleaning of the subphase surface, creating a quasi closed volume in the working area. For successful monolayer formation, the control of surface pressure is essential. The surface pressure should be relatively high in the range of 20 - 50 mN/m and constant during the transferring process to ensure sufficient cohesion in the monolayer. The attraction between molecules in a monolayer is sufficient to prevent the monolayer from falling when transferred to a solid substrate. To determine the right surface pressure, it is needed to compress monolayer until collapse occurs, and the bulk film is formed instead of the monolayer. At the collapsing surface pressure, the stability of the monomolecular layer is disturbed, and it turns into a polymolecular film.

Chapter 3. Dendrimer synthesis. Result and Discussion

3.1 The general approach to the synthesis of sulfonimide-based dendrimers

For the synthesis of the designed dendrimers, I used a divergent approach because this method is easy to perform, and it allows us to achieve a large scale production of the target compounds. ⁹⁰ In contrast to the alternatively used convergent method ⁹⁰, dendrimers are synthesized by the stepwise addition of repetitive units.

3.1.1 Selection of the core molecule

The most crucial step in the divergent synthesis of the dendrimer is the selection of a core molecule because the shape and number of generations will strongly depend on the nature of the core. For this purpose, we carried out a preliminary synthesis with three different primary amines as the potential cores. First, the synthetic utility of 4-methoxybenzylamine was investigated. As shown in Scheme 1, the reaction of the amine with two equivalents of 4-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride in the presence of triethylamine in refluxed dichloromethane readily gives sulfonimide **1a** with good yield taking into account filtration and washing.



Scheme 1. An attempt to use 4-methoxybenzylamine as the dendrimer core. Reagents and conditions: (i) 4-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride, Et_3N , CH_2Cl_2 , reflux; (ii) $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$, $EtOH/CH_2Cl_2$, reflux.

The second step was the reduction reaction of the obtained dinitroaromatic Compound **1a** with inexpensive tin (II) chloride dihydrate. Tin (II) chloride is widely used as a mild reducing agent to reduce selectively and nearly quantitatively aromatic nitro groups into amino groups under acidic conditions with a simple procedure. ¹³⁵ However, an attempt to reduce Compound **1a** (Scheme 1) led to a mixture of unidentified compounds. Presumably, some side reactions at the active benzylic position took place.

Taking aniline as the starting amine (Scheme 2) resulted in successful both persulfonylation reduction step. For aniline, the resonance of the lone pair at nitrogen atom with the adjacent π system decreases the availability of the lone pair. It makes aniline a poorer nucleophile, and this can result in lower reactivity and, as a result, low yield at the first step. However, an attempt at the persulfonylation of diamine **2b** yielded practically insoluble material limiting any further transformations to 2nd generation structures only.



Scheme 2. An attempt to use aniline as the dendrimer core. Reagents and conditions: (i) 4nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride, Et_3N , CH_2Cl_2 , reflux; (ii) $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$, $EtOH/CH_2Cl_2$, reflux.

The negative results with 4-methoxybenzylamine and aniline show the limitations of the divergent synthetic route in which the selection of the core molecule can be time-consuming.

Finally, the use of 3-methoxypropylamine as the core unit turned out to be successful and allow to continue synthesis achieving targeted sulfonimide dendrimers. As shown in Scheme 3, the two repetitive steps of persulfonylation and reduction readily give rise to

tetraamine **3d**. For the reduction reactions, the yield decreased due to additional washing of the obtained product



Scheme 3. Using 3-methoxypropylamine as the dendrimer core. Reagents and conditions: (i) 4nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride, Et_3N , CH_2Cl_2 , reflux; (ii) $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$, $EtOH/CH_2Cl_2$, reflux.

3.1.2 Functionalization of sulfonimide-based dendrimers with terminal naphthalene groups

The obtained sulfonimide dendrimers were functionalized with terminal naphthalene groups because naphthalene groups give hydrophobic properties to the dendrimer. The terminal amines of different generations obtained according to repetitive steps shown on Scheme 3 were successfully persulfonylated with 2-naphthalenesulfonyl chloride to give 2^{nd} , $3^{rd} 4^{th}$, and 5^{th} generations of dendrimers. The reaction leading to 3^{rd} generation **3e** is shown on (Scheme 4).



Scheme 4. Preparation of the 3^{rd} generation dendrimers. Reagents and conditions: (i) 2-naphthalenesulfonyl chloride, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, reflux.

3.1.3 Synthesis of 2^{nd} generation of sulfonimide-based dendrimer

As shown in Scheme 5, the synthesis starts from 4-Fluoronitrobenzene with the nucleophilic displacement of one fluorine group with benzyl thiol in the presence of K_2CO_3 . The product 1 was obtained in 99% isolated yield. The nitro group of 1 was reduced to the amino group with $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$ to furnish amine 2 called 4-(benzylthio)aniline. The yield was drop down due to the purification procedure. The sulfonyl chloride was attached to 4-(benzylthio)aniline 2 to form persulfonylated dinitro Compound 3. The reaction was carried out in CH_2Cl_2 in the presence of Et_3N . The two nitro groups of compound 3 were reduced to the amino groups with $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$ to furnish amine 4, which was obtained as a yellow solid. The obtained amine is a stable compound and can be stored at ambient conditions for a long time without any detectable decomposition. Diamine 4 was persulfonylated in one step with 2-naphthalenesulfonyl chloride in the presence of triethylamine, giving superbranched sulfonimide 5, which was successfully converted into sulfonyl chloride 6 using *N*-chlorosuccinimide as a chlorinating reagent.



Scheme 5. a) Reagents and conditions: (i) K_2CO_3 , DMF, 50°C; (ii) SnCl₂·2H₂O/EtOH, reflux 2h; (iii) 4-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, reflux; (iv) SnCl₂·2H₂O/EtOH, reflux 2h; b) (i) 2-naphthalenesulfonyl chloride, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, reflux; (ii) *N*-chlorosuccinimide, HCl, AcOH, CH₂Cl₂, 5°C.

The last step was performed using a convergent approach. Tetraethyleneglycol monomethyl ether was reacted with sulfonyl chloride 6 in acetonitrile in the presence of Et_3N and $NaHCO_3$ as a scavenger to give Compound 7, as shown in Scheme 6, proving that the reactivity of dendron 6 is comparable to that of regular arylsulfonyl chlorides.



Scheme 6. (i) Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, reflux.

The reaction yield was relatively low, possibly due to the steric effect at the final stage. The dendron production process was laborious and economically unprofitable due to the commercial availability of ready-made arylsulfonyl chlorides.

The second generation was also obtained by the divergent method in two steps: coupling and activation. A commercially available primary amine was used as the core molecule. The p-nitrobenzene sulfonyl chloride was attached to methoxypolyethylene glycol amine to form a persulfonylated dinitro compound. The reaction was carried out in CH_2Cl_2 in the presence of Et_3N . The two nitro groups were reduced to the amino groups with $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$ to furnish amine. Diamine was persulfonylated in one step with 2naphthalenesulfonyl chloride in the presence of triethylamine, giving second-generation sulfonimide dendrimer. As a result, using a two-stage approach, it was possible to obtain the target second generation, decorated with four naphthyl groups.



Scheme 7. Using Methoxypolyethylene glycol amine as the dendrimer core. Reagents and conditions: (i) 4-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride, Et_3N , CH_2Cl_2 , reflux; (ii) $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$, $EtOH/CH_2Cl_2$, reflux. (iii) 2-naphthalenesulfonyl chloride, Et_3N , CH_2Cl_2 , reflux.

3.1.4 Synthesis of 3rd generation of sulfonimide-based dendrimer

Since Compound 6 (Scheme 6) showed good solubility in dichloromethane at high concentrations, this made it possible to use this non-commercial dendron for the synthesis of 3^{rd} generation by the convergent method. Both convergent and divergent routes carried out the synthesis of the third-generation dendron. The convergent route

combining amine 2 (Scheme 5) and sulfonyl chloride 6 gave third-generation dendrimer 9 in 86% yield. The divergent way of this procedure involved the reduction of tetranitro Compound 8a to yield tetraamine 8b and persulfonylation of the latter with 2naphthylsulfonyl chloride affording Compound 9 in 68% yield. Sulfide 9 was, in turn, oxidized with N-chlorosuccinimide to yield the third-generation sulfonyl chloride-based dendron 10. (Scheme 8)



Scheme 8. Convergent and divergent syntheses of 2-naphthyldecorated third-generation dendron 10. Reagents and conditions: (i) $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$, CH_2Cl_2 -EtOH (1:1), HCl, reflux; (ii) ArSO₂Cl, Et₃N, CH_2Cl_2 , reflux; (iii) N-chlorosuccinimide, HCl, AcOH, CH_2Cl_2 , 0°C.

The structure and purity of Compound 10 were fully confirmed by ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectroscopy, MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry, and elemental analysis. A reaction of the core amine 2 with three equivalents of Compound 10 in the presence of triethylamine led

to the recovery of starting materials in a 90% yield. The LCMS analysis of the remaining part revealed a peak with m/z = 2821.0 that corresponds to monosulfonylated $1+Na^+$. This observation seems to indicate that both the steric size and decreased electrophilicity of the sulfonyl chloride unit of 10 do not allow for further convergent growth.

Sulfonimide-based dendrons of first to third generations with chlorosulfo-groups at their focal points presented here can be considered as useful reagents for a convergent acylation of multi functionalized core compounds. Both convergent and divergent synthetic approaches to the sulfonimide-based dendrons were realized with comparable yields of the final structures. It appears that in this case, the convergent route reaches its practical limit at third-generation, whereas the divergent approach has better chances at achieving higher generation sulfonimide-based dendrons. Dendrons of first and second generations have reactivity similar to that of small aromatic sulfonyl chlorides (e.g., tosyl chloride).

3.1.5 Synthesis of 4th and 5th generation of sulfonimide-based dendrimer

Schemes 9 and 10 illustrate the full synthetic path to the fourth and fifth-generation dendrimer. Synthetic procedures yielding tetraamine **6**, as well as the reduction of nitroaromatic compounds, are similar to those reported formerly. ⁹¹ The use of other reducing reagents such as Fe/NH₄Cl, Zn/AcOH, N₂H₄/FeCl₃-C gave mixtures of products. The major obstacle causing reduced yields at higher generations is the low solubility of branched species bearing multiple aromatic amino groups in dichloromethane. For example, tetraamine **6** was converted into octanitro-derivative **7** only at 32% yield after being refluxed in dichloromethane for 24h. A part of Compound **6** was not dissolved under given conditions and spread over the flask walls. Presumably, this occurs on account of the aggregation of the oligoamines in the low polar dichloromethane through multiple intermolecular hydrogen bonds. The amines are nicely soluble in more polar acetone or acetonitrile, preventing the aggregation of the solute through hydrogen bonding. However, the persulfonylation reaction in these solvents does not proceed completely. Multiple products of incomplete substitution were isolated. The

isolated mixture of products was soluble in pure dichloromethane. Only the sulfonylation of oligoamines in dichloromethane was shown to give products of the complete substitution.^{1,84,85,86} Therefore, it seemed reasonable to split the amine persulfonylation into two steps. As mentioned in Scheme 8 and described in the experimental part as amines 6, 8, and 10 were first partially sulfonylated in a 1:1 mixture of dichloromethane/acetone giving a combination of incompletely substituted products. The isolated mixture of products was dissolved in pure dichloromethane, and its second persulfonylation step resulted in desired sulfonimides in much better yields compared to formerly described ones; for example, Compound 7 was isolated in 69% yield unlike previously reported 34% yield for similar species. ⁸⁶ As shown in the earlier study, the use of m-nitrophenyl instead of p-nitrophenyl groups in the third-generation species, such as Compound 7, was due to the reduced solubility of dendritic sulfonimides with multiple peripheral p-nitrophenyl units preventing their purification completely. ⁸⁶ The two-step approach allowed for significant scale-up production of higher generation sulfonimide dendrimers. Thus, third-generation octanitro Compound 7 was prepared on a 7g scale in one synthetic run while fourth-generation species **9a** and **9b** were produced on 4g and 5g scales, respectively. The multigram availability of fourth-generation dendrimers prompted us to undertake further steps to prepare fifth-generation sulfonimide dendrimer. The reduction of hexadecanitro Compound 9a readily gave hexadecaamine 10 in 88% isolated yield. The two-step persulfonylation of 10 with 2-naphthalene sulfonyl chloride resulted in 2g (28%) of the fifth-generation dendrimer 11. All sulfonimide dendrimers were isolated as crystalline solids with rather high melting points (>130°C).



Scheme 9. The divergent synthesis of sulfonimide-based dendrimers. Reagents and conditions: (i) Et_3N/CH_2Cl_2 , reflux 2h; (ii) $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O/EtOH$, reflux 2h; (iii) $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O/EtOH/CH_2Cl_2$, 40° C, 6h; (iv) $CH_2Cl_2/acetone$, 3-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride, reflux 24h.



Scheme 10. The divergent synthesis of sulfonimide-based dendrimers. Reagents and conditions: (i) Et_3N/CH_2Cl_2 , reflux 2h; (ii) $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O/EtOH$, reflux 2h; (iii) $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O/EtOH/CH_2Cl_2$, 40° C, 6h; (iv) $CH_2Cl_2/acetone$, 3-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride, reflux 24h.



Scheme 10. Continuation. The longer reaction times (72h) were required for the synthesis of Compounds 9 and 11.

The compounds are shown in Schemes 8, and 9 (except for amines 8 and 10) were fully characterized by ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectroscopy, elemental analysis, and mass spectrometry (MS). ¹H NMR spectrum of Compound 11 recorded in CDCl₃ showed considerably broadened signals that are typical for high molecular weight polymers indicating slow conformational changes in the solution. The amine intermediates 8 and 10 were only characterized by ¹H NMR and MS and used the same day for persulfonylation steps on account of their tendency to oxidize quickly. Although the yield of 28% for Compound 11 might be considered low from the standpoint of organic chemists but taking into account multiple condensation reaction steps and ca. twofold increase of the molecular weight while going from fourth to the fifth generation, it provides a sufficient amount of the material for applications. Dendrimers 7 and 9a

decorated by eight and 16m-nitrophenyl groups, respectively, exhibited good solubility in cold dichloromethane and chloroform. However, the compounds precipitate completely from the solution upon heating to 40°C and dissolve again upon cooling to the room temperature as revealed by both variable temperature NMR experiments and the visual inspection. Compounds **9b** and **11** bearing peripheral naphthyl groups are perfectly soluble in these solvents independently on the temperature.

As a result of the synthetic part, all the tasks were completed: the core molecule was selected, the synthesis of 2-5 generations of sulfonimide dendrimers with naphthyl groups was performed. Dendrimers were obtained in sufficient quantities for further purification and analysis. Detailed synthetic procedure and NMR and Mass spectroscopy data are presented in the Appendix Section.

Chapter 4. Film preparation and characterization

4.1 Film preparation

For experiments on the generation and handling of self-assembled and covalent monolayers, a computer-controlled film-balance setup KSV NIMA Langmuir - Blodgett trough, coupled with a Brewster angle microscope (BAM), constructed by KSV Instruments Ltd., Finland, was used. ¹³⁶ The trough has a working area of 14×54 cm² and was set on a vibration confinement table and closed in a chamber. The water used was purified using a Milli-Q plus water purification system with an electric resistance of 18.4 M Ω . To prepare a solution for spreading, we dissolved our dendrimer in the ideal solvent. The solvent should be insoluble in the subphase (water), volatile, able to dissolve the substance, and have a positive spreading coefficient, which allows for pulling the dispersed particles out by the spreading of solvents. According to these requirements, we selected chloroform as a solvent with a spreading coefficient of 13.9 mN/m. We prepared solution sulfonimide-based dendrimers with a concentration of 2 mg/ml and spread 40 µl of the solution of our dendrimers in chloroform dropwise by a microsyringe on the Langmuir trough filled with the water subphase. Blank control isotherms were determined before dendrimer spreading to confirm the purity of the surface. After spreading the dendrimer solution on the surface of the water, we need to wait until the solvent evaporates, usually, approximately 20 min. After evaporation of the solvent is finished, we can compress the monolayer by moving the barriers close to each other. During compression, we can measure surface tension by using a wetted Wilhelmy plate. The surface pressure-area (π -A) isotherms were measured by symmetric compression with a constant barrier speed of 5 mm/min. Photoreaction in films was performed with a 250 W UV lamp (254 nm) at a distance of 30 cm, the set up shown in Figure 12. At first, the monolayer was formed by compressing the barriers; then, we irradiated the monolayer on the water surface for 15 min. After the irradiation process, the monolayer was transferred onto the substrate. The monolayer deposition took place only during the

pulling out (upstroke) mode. The monolayers on the water surface were transferred to the solid substrates, which were previously immersed in the subphase.



Figure 12. Set up for covalent and non-covalent film formation.

4.1.1 Selection of monomeric units

Film formation refers to a process of creating a thin film and transferring it on different surfaces. The film formation process is essential to the final appearance and functionality of the coating. The possibility of creating chemical film layers is determined by the nature and the number of surface groups, and the type of polymer backbone architecture. As substances for film formation can be used molecules which contain hydrophilic tail and hydrophobic surroundings. Various polymers, such as polyimides, polydiacetylene, and polymer-like structures such as dendrimers, satisfy these conditions. ¹³⁷ For the investigation of the film formation, four compounds were used in the present study. There are obtained and discussed in the previous chapter sulfonimide-based dendrimers from the 2nd to 5th generation decorated with hydrophobic naphthyl terminal groups for their stable stay on the surface of the water. Upon compression conditions on the air/water interface, the dendrimers molecules can be close-packed in two dimensions (2D) manner and finally collapsed into an unusual three-dimensional (3D) aggregate. ¹³⁸ It is not necessary to have a long alkyl tail in the structure; dendrimers can be modified using peripheral groups. ¹³⁹ We introduce a methoxypropyl group in the focal point to

create a hydrophilic tail for enhancing interaction with aqueous subphase and decorate a dendrimer with naphthyl groups to create a hydrophobic environment. The schematic structures of prepared substances for monolayer preparation and a possible 3D arrangement of dendrimer molecules are shown in Figure 13.



Figure 13. (1) The structure of interest a) 2^{nd} generation G2, b) 3^{rd} generation, c) 4^{th} generation, and d) 5^{th} generation; (2) 3D Chemical Structure View of dendrimers. (Note: the numbers of the generations shown in this scheme are generally admitted for sulfonimide dendrimers. However, following the traditional nomenclature G2 in the Scheme corresponds to G1, G3 to G2, etc.)

From the built 3D models shown in Figure 13 (2), the radii of gyration Rg were theoretically calculated using the formula:¹⁴⁰

$$< Rg^2 \ge \frac{1}{M} < \left[\sum_{i=1}^N m_i |r_i - R|^2 \right] >$$

where R is the center-of-mass of the dendrimer, m_i is the mass of the i_{th} atom, and M is the total molecular weight of the dendrimer. The results for G3, G4, and G5are shown in Figure 14. For the second generation, the gyration radius is 9 Å.



Figure 14. The radius of gyration, R g vs. molecular weight of dendrimers

This study demonstrates the possibility of the formation and transfer of thin sulfonimide dendrimers films of four different generations to the solid substrate using the Langmuir-Blodgett technique. This method allows forming ultrathin films on the water-air interface. We prepared two types of films with noncovalent and covalent bonding for each generation shown in Figure 13. Covalent bonding is carried out using the dimerization of naphthyl terminal groups under the action of UV radiation.^{141,142,143} The monolayer was first compacted by moving the barriers. It led to an increase in the probability of the formation of intermolecular covalent bonds between naphthyl groups. Then this film was irradiated by a UV source at a fixed pressure. Still, surface area behavior changed due to the rearrangement of naphthyl groups under UV light. The films with different bonding and generations. To visualize the Langmuir layer at the air-water interface, a Brewster angle microscope (BAM) was used. The observation was performed during the compression condition, and the result is shown in Figure 15.



Figure 15. The dendrimer layer of G2 in liquid condensed phase on the Langmuir Trough, imaged by a Brewster angle microscope. a) near critical pressure b) at a pressure higher than critical.

4.1.2 Control of film formation by measuring π - A isotherms

Control of surface pressure is essential for monolayer formation. During the film formation process, the main experimental result is an isotherm of surface pressure versus area per molecule called the π - A isotherm. The capability of G2, G3, G4, and G5 dendrimers to form stable monolayers at the air-water interface was studied by the corresponding surface pressure-area (π -A) isotherms. When the solution of sulfonimidebased dendrimers is spread on the surface of the water at low surface concentrations, the initial molecular organization is random. At very low surface pressures, dendrimer molecules do not interact with each other. At this stage, the film is in the state of an ideal gas. As the surface pressure increases, the molecules remain on the surface and do not form large aggregates. Figure 16 shows the changes in the surface pressure with the area per molecule for the four pure dendrimer generations. In all cases, monolayer compression produces an increase in the surface pressure, indicating the dendrimer surface activity in the air-water interface. According to the results for the 2nd generation dendrimer shown in Figure 16a, it is possible to distinguish different monolayer phases: liquid expanded, liquid condensed, and solid phase.¹⁴⁴. In the beginning, the surface pressure is close to zero. Upon compression, an inflection point is observed at 5 mN/m in

the isotherm, which means that the transition from one phase (type) of the organization to another takes place. Under continuous compression, the surface pressure in the gas phase starts increasing at a surface area of 500 cm² or 150 Å². Through the transition from the liquid expanded to the liquid condensed phase, a solid monolayer phase was formed above 15 mN/m. Further compression resulted in a steep rise in the surface pressure up to 45 mN/m, which is a collapsing pressure, and molecules were forced out of the twodimensional plane. It should be noted that between G2 and G3, G4, and G5 dendrimers, the only structural difference resides in the focal point. Moreover, the stable isotherm film showed perfect reversibility in successive compression/decompression cycles, as revealed in Figure 16a. The reversibility of the Langmuir monolayer formation was analyzed using successive compression-expansion cycles, and the time stability through isobaric measurements of the film deformation. The study of both properties provides additional information about the interactions established between the dendrimeric molecules, their ability to remain stable in the formation of a monolayer, and the capacity to return to the two-dimensional gaseous state once unzipped the film. At higher surface pressures, before the point of collapse, the second compression isotherm moves to smaller areas, indicating a possible loss of material during compression due to loss of the monolayer forming molecules in the subphase or adhesion of molecules to the Wilhelmy system. As seen from Figure 16b, the critical pressure decreases with increasing generation number, which is probably due to an increase in spatial stress and weaker interaction with the water subphase.



Figure 16. a) The hysteresis curve of the G2 monolayer shows the compression/re-expansion behaviors of the particulate monolayers b) pressure–area isotherms of the G3, G4, and G5 monolayers.

The pressure-area isotherms for the 3^{rd} , 4^{th} , and 5^{th} generation of dendrimers are given in Figure 16b, and the surface compression data are expressed numerically in Table 2. The surface pressure was relatively high in the range of 20 - 50 mN/m. For generations 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} , 4^{th} , and 5^{th} , the first inflection represents the area at which the monolayer enters the liquid expanded phase. The critical pressure is the condition where monolayer still exists. Further pressure increasing results in monolayer collapsing. Moving from the lower generation G3 to the higher one G5, the critical pressure decreases. The primary reason for this behavior is an increase in the steric effect of the molecules of the higher generation of dendrimers. The second possible explanation is that by increasing the dendrimer generation number, it becomes more hydrophobic. Its attraction to the water surface is relatively less as well. It helps to keep the concentration of dendrimer molecules at the air-water interface constant. The first inflection point reaches the maximum for the 4th generation of dendrimers. The average transfer ratio of both dendrimer film types of 2nd, 3rd, 4th, and 5th generation was calculated by KSV NIMA software v 11.1.3 ¹³⁶ with respect to all initial parameters. The values were equal to 1.1, 0.91, 0.8 and 0.67, respectively.

Table 2. Summary of transition point and critical surface pressure in pressure–area

 isotherms obtained by using a Langmuir–Blodgett trough.

Generation	First inflection, mN/m	Critical pressure, mN/m
2^{nd}	5	45
3 rd	20	49
4 th	15	35
5 th	20	33



Figure 17. a) Mean molecular area at the first inflection point vs. the molecular weight of dendrimers b) Mean molecular area at critical pressure vs. the molecular weight of dendrimers.

Figure 17 shows that the mean molecular area increases with increasing dendrimer generation and, accordingly, with an increased molecular weight at critical pressure and first inflection. The nature of the dependences is different; for the case with critical pressure, there is a dense packing of dendrimer molecules into a layer on the water/air surface.
4.1.3 Selection of substrates for film deposition

For film visualization, they were transferred on a silicon substrate with 300-nm oxide layers. To measure the contact angle, the films were transferred to the cover glasses. For AFM measurements, mica was used as a substrate, and copper grids were used for TEM investigation. UV Quartz glass (which has high transmission between 200 nm and 2500 nm) is perfect for working within the UV-Visible spectrum. All substrates are shown in Figure 18.



Figure 18. Substrates for film transfer a) cover glass 22x22 mm, b) silicon substrate with 300-nm oxide layers, c) quartz glass plate 10*10*0.5mm, d) copper grid 300 Mesh hole width 58x58 µm, e) mica straps fixed on the glass.

4.1.4 Deposition methods

The LB films of the dendrimers were transferred onto glass, oxidized silicon wafers, and mica by a vertical lifting method with a typical vertical speed of 2 and 5 mm/min. The LB films were transferred on copper grids by the Langmuir – Schaefer method as shown in Figure 19. All substrates before the transfer procedure were first cleaned by isopropanol and acetone and then rinsed several times in distilled water.



Figure 19. Transfer dendrimer film on copper grids for TEM analysis.

The transfer ratio was defined as A_L/A_S , where A_L decreases the area occupied by the monolayer on the liquid surface, at constant surface pressure, and A_S is the coated area of the solid substrate.

4.2 Film analysis

KSV NIMA Stand-Alone MicroBAM managed the visualization films on the air-water interface. The analysis was carried out using scanning electron microscopy (SEM) by Carl Zeiss (Supra 40) with a voltage of 10 kV and optical microscopy by Carl Zeiss AXIO Scope A1. Ellipsometry measurements estimated the thickness of the films transferred on mica were carried out using a Sentech SE 800 PV and by atomic force microscopy (AFM) Cypher ES High Resolution using the AM-FM Viscoelastic Mapping method ¹⁴⁵ with a silicon probe with a resonant frequency of 220 kHz and constant elasticity of 17 N/m. The method with an operating range between 1 MPa and hundreds of GPa is suitable for a wide range of samples from biomaterials and polymers to metals and ceramics. ¹⁴⁶. The Young's modulus was measured by a Hertz sphere indenter with a sphere radius equal to the radius of the curvature of the probe, 10 nm. Images were treated and analyzed using Gwyddion, open-source software for the visualization and analysis of scanning probe microscopy data. UV spectra were obtained by S-3100 UV-Vis Spectrophotometer. The contact angle measurements of the transferred glass thin films were performed by a Drop Shape Analyser – KRÜSS DSA 30. The surface

morphology of the free-standing films transferred on a copper grid holder with a hole width of 58x58 µm was determined by transmission electron microscopy (TEM), model JEM 2100F (UHR/Cs), with an acceleration voltage of 200 kV. The nonlinear optical properties of dendrimer films were studied by measuring the nonlinear signal arising from the action of femtosecond laser radiation with a wavelength of 800 nm, a pulse duration of 60 fs, a power of 30 mW, focused by a 5 cm lens, on the sample surface. Laser radiation was incident at an angle of 45 degrees, and a nonlinear signal was recorded by a photomultiplier in the photon counting mode in the direction of the reflected pump beam.

Some parameters need to be analyzed before thin films can be used for real technological applications. It is necessary to check and prove that transfer took place and that the film is deposited on the substrate. For this purpose, the film should be visualized to ensure that the film contains large uniform domains. For visualization, LB films were transferred onto oxidized silicon plates. The choice of the substrate was based on the fact that silicon wafers are used to visualize transparent graphene under an optical microscope. ¹⁴⁷ This type of substrate allows visualization of the presence of a film by the naked eye. Optical micrographs were obtained for all investigated films. Figure 20a, d shows an image of the film made up of the 5th generation of the sulfonimide-based dendrimer. As revealed from the picture, the transfer was successfully made, and considering the scale of the image, there are quite large domains without any damage or imperfections. There are no major differences when comparing covalently and noncovalently formed films, which means that sulfonimide-based dendrimers are suitable for both types of film formation.



Figure 20. a) Optical micrograph and b) SEM images of UV-stabilized films deposited on an oxidized silicon plate, c) TEM image of UV-stabilized films transferred onto a 300 mesh copper grid, d) Optical micrograph, and e) SEM image of noncovalent films deposited on an oxidized silicon plate and f) TEM image of noncovalent films transferred onto a 300 mesh copper grid.

The possible reasons for the discontinuous LB thin film shown in Figure 20 are a reorientation of molecules during deposition or after deposition and chemical isomerization of naphthyl groups under UV radiation. As a result, the rearrangement of the structure of the monolayer and sitting film is due to vertical transfer. The same pictures were obtained for all generations of the dendrimer in the case of self-assembly and covalent bonding. For scanning electron microscopy, the transfer of the floating films was performed on oxidized silicon plates. Figure 20 b, e shows the microstructure of thin films of the 5th generation with covalent and noncovalent bonding. In the case of noncovalent binding, the film structure is loose packed compared to that with covalent binding, and at high magnification, individual cylindrical-like elements can be seen. Then, as it compresses the barriers, these cylindrical objects form agglomerates. The possibility of transferring the film to the grid and studying it with TEM suggest the sufficient mechanical stability of the prepared film of the 5th generation, in Figure 20 c, f. Thus, the Langmuir films made up of dendrimers can be transferred not only on usual solid substrates but also exist as a free-standing film that is stable enough for analysis.

4.2.1 Thickness measurement

Measurement of film thickness was carried out using two methods, ellipsometry and AFM. The results of two different methods showed good compatibility and are presented in Table 3. The results of the thickness measurements by AFM were obtained for the films of the 4th and 5th generation of dendrimer and equal 3.0 nm and 3.8 nm, respectively. The results for the 2nd and 3rd generations were not available using this method due to the thinness of the film. Thickness measurements by ellipsometry were confirmed by the AFM method and equal 2.6 and 3.8 for the films of the 4th and 5th generations of the dendrimer, respectively. Figure 21 presents the results of the surface investigation for films made of sulfonimide-based dendrimers in terms of height profiles. According to the height profile, the thickness is approximately in the range of 3.0 - 5.0nm. Comparing the morphology of the surfaces of films with a covalent bond and selfassembled films showed that the films look similar and contain the same cylindrical objects. Still, in the case of the covalent film, the high resolution was achieved due to the stabilization of the films by covalent bonding. Surface roughness was evaluated by atomic force microscopy in terms of RMS roughness (R_a) within a given area. The average roughness was in the range of 0.67 - 0.74 nm, as revealed in Figure 21.



Figure 21. Topography, height profiles, and roughness of the transferred film on mica substrate a) 4^{th} G, not UV irradiated, b) 4^{th} G UV irradiated, c) 5^{th} G, not UV irradiated, d) 5^{th} G UV irradiated.

According to the specification, scanner noise along the vertical z-axis is less than 50 pm. Accordingly, the resolution along the vertical axis should be limited to this value. If you use a probe with a stiffness of more than 1 N / m, then the thermal noise of the probe does not introduce additional noise, so the instrumental error is 50 pm. In this case, the microscope is in a glove box with a chiller, so that the temperature there is constant and thermal fluctuations should not significantly affect the vertical resolution. We also made the first attempt to repeat the deposition process and built up a bilayer. So far, we understood that the bilayer was formed only using an upstroke mode due to the substrate-dendrimer combination. It was proven to measure the bilayer thickness that got doubled.

4.2.2 Young's modulus measurement

To estimate mechanical properties, we measured Young's modulus using AFM. For measurements, we selected the Hertz model for the force curves. ¹⁴⁶ The values of Young's modulus for films do not exceed 190 MPa, which corresponds to the soft polymeric material. The difference in Young's modulus values for covalently stabilized and self-assembled films is practically absent. Young's modulus measurements for 4th and 5th generation sulfonimide-based dendrimers are shown in Table 3.

Film	Thickness, by ellipsometry, nm	Thickness, by AFM, nm	The average value of Young's modulus, MPa
4 th UV irradiated	2.6 ± 0.5	3.0 ± 0.9	150
4 th not UV irradiated			155
5 th UV irradiated	3.8 ± 0.5	$3.6 - 3.8 \pm 0.9$	184
5 th not UV irradiated			186

4.2.3 UV spectroscopy

UV spectroscopy helps in determining the change in the chemical structure of transferred films by detecting chromophores; the intensity of the absorption band is proportional to the number of chromophoric units. To confirm the reaction of intermolecular and intramolecular dimerization of terminal naphthyl groups, the UV spectra of the films of G2-G4 dendrimers transferred to quartz glasses were analyzed. Figure 22 shows that the films give a signal in the range from 200 to 300 nm, which is typical for naphthalene. The signal is more intense for UV unirradiated films than for UV irradiated ones. The presence of weak signals is due to the film thickness since the film thickness does not exceed 6 nm, the concentration of the substance on the surface is too low for analysis of the completeness of the dimerization process. Therefore, the only way to evaluate the changes in the structure of the formed dendrimer film under UV irradiation is by detecting the changes in surface properties, for example, wettability.



Figure 22. UV spectra of dendrimer films of different generations deposited on quartz glass.

4.2.4 Contact angle measurement

The measurements of the contact angle are used to evaluate the properties of the surface after coating with sulfonimide-based dendrimers. Surface effects are caused by the interaction of its surface morphology and chemical properties. The wetting behavior of sulfonimide-based dendrimer layers is governed by both their chemical composition and geometric microstructure. Since the structures of sulfonimide dendrimers have hydrophobic naphthyl functional groups and can set the hydrophobic properties of the surface, we were interested in measuring the static contact angle between a liquid (water) and a solid (thin film) and checking the wetting ability of the films. When measuring the static contact angle, a regular tendency was observed with increasing generation number, the contact angle increased. In the case of noncovalently formed films, the contact angle was larger than that in the case of covalent films by an average of 3-10°. The values of the contact angles are summarized in Table 4.

Generation	Contact angle, °	
2 nd not UV irradiated	58.2 ±4.9	
2 nd UV irradiated	31.5 ±6.6	
3 rd not UV irradiated	72.4 ±12.1	
3 rd UV irradiated	70.6 ±19.2	
4 th not UV irradiated	81.6 ±18.0	
4 th UV irradiated	72.3 ±12.1	
5 th not UV irradiated	91.9 ±9.9	
5 th UV irradiated	61.7 ±18.3	

Table 4. Contact angle measurements.

Such a difference between covalently and noncovalently bonded films is due to the partial destruction of the aromatic structure under the action of UV light, and as a result, a decrease in the hydrophobicity occurs. The highest contact angle was observed for the noncovalent film of the 5th generation of dendrimer and was equal to approximately 90°. Therefore, such films can be used to create coatings with different hydrophobicities to improve the water-repellent properties of surfaces. The results of contact angle measurements for covalent and noncovalent films of different generations are shown in Figure 23a.



Figure 23. a) Contact angles for different generations, b) Contact angle and surface roughness of sulfonimide-based dendrimer films 4th and 5th generations covalently bonded and noncovalently bonded.

For rough surfaces, the real area of contact is much smaller than the nominal smooth area of contact. The reduction of the contact area can affect adhesion. Figure 23b shows the relationship between the roughness of the surface and wettability. Under UV light, dimerization occurs and leads to decreasing surface roughness due to the more compact organization of molecules. At the same time, the contact angle noticeably decreases with decreasing of roughness. On the other hand, surface roughness increases with increasing the generation of the dendrimer, which is not exposed to UV irradiation that leads to a higher contact angle. It is observed that the contact angle of UV non- irradiated films increases with an increase in surface roughness, which is consistent with the literature.

Two models describe wetting on rough hydrophobic surfaces such as Wenzel¹⁴⁸ and Cassie-Baxter¹⁴⁹. The Wenzel equation relates to the homogeneous wetting regime (liquid fill-up the roughness grooves) and is corresponded by the following equation for the contact angle on a rough surface:

$$\cos(\theta') = r\cos(\theta)$$

here θ ' is the apparent contact angle which corresponds to the minimum free energy state for the system, r is the roughness ratio, θ is the Young contact angle. The Cassie-Baxter equation describes the heterogeneous wetting regime (air bubbles trapped inside the grooves) and is shown by the following equation for the contact angle on a rough surface:

$$\cos(\theta') = r_f f \cos(\theta) + f - 1$$

where θ ' is the apparent contact angle which corresponds to the minimum free energy state for the system, r is the roughness ratio, θ is the Young contact angle, r_f is the roughness ratio of the wetted surface area, and f is the fraction of solid surface area wet by the liquid. To define the suitable model, it is needed to evaluate the experimentally measured parameters such as the spreading coefficient and the work of adhesion. A detailed study of the wettability and the dependence of wettability on the generation of dendrimers is a promising task for further research.

In addition to measuring the wetting angle in the static mode, an analysis of the change in the wetting angle along the entire sample was made. For this, 3 μ l drops of water were deposited on the sample; in the area covered by the dendrimer layer, the wetting angle remained unchanged Figure 24a and noticeably decreased when a water drop of the same volume was applied to the region free of the dendrimer film Figure 24b. This observation allows us to conclude that the coating is uniform on the substrate and retains hydrophobic properties.



Figure 24. The study of changes in the contact angle along with the sample (V of the drops is 3 μ l).

4.2.5 Studies of nonlinear optical interaction in dendrimer monolayer

Two types of monolayers of 5th generation dendrimer molecules on the glass surface grown by the Langmuir – Blodgett method were used as research samples. One of the films was exposed to ultraviolet radiation before being applied to glass, while the second was not. Each plate had a section not covered with the dendrimer film. The power of the nonlinear signal quadratically depended on the pump power in the region up to 70 mW, indicating that a quadratic nonlinear optical process takes place in the samples Figure 25.



Figure 25. The dependence of the power of a nonlinear signal on the pump power.

For convenience, two studied samples are assembled together, as shown in Figure 26a. Figure 25b shows a map of the distribution of a nonlinear signal obtained by the incidence of p-polarized pump radiation for two samples located next to each other. The scan area was 12 mm x 12 mm. The lower half of the figure corresponds to the sample not exposed to ultraviolet radiation; the upper half of the figure corresponds to the sample irradiated with ultraviolet light. The region 0 mm < X < 2 mm of both glass plates was not covered by a layer of dendrimers. The distribution of the nonlinear signal correlates to some extent with spatial inhomogeneities films visible in the sample photograph Figure 26b



Figure 26. a) Picture of analyzed samples b) Distribution map of the nonlinear signal.

The set of nonlinear signals from two images in several horizontal sections of the map shows the dependences of the non-linear signal on the position of the focus point of the laser beam on the samples in Figure 27a. It can be seen that in the region of the dendrimer film, the non-linear signal increases compared to pure glass, but the signal consists of random emissions. A non-linear signal is present for all combinations of pump polarization and analyzer positions shown in Figure 27b. The existence of non-linear signals is also confirmed by measurements of the power of the non-linear signal depending on the angle of rotation of the analyzer for two pump polarizations Figure 27c. Analyzer zero position corresponds to their transmission of p-polarized radiation. The curves show the partial polarization of the nonlinear signal.



Figure 27. a) The dependence of the nonlinear signal on the position of the focus point of the laser beam on the samples b) The dependence of the nonlinear signal on the position analyzer c) The dependence of the power of a nonlinear signal on the angle analyzer rotation for two pump polarization.

During the experiments, a nonlinear optical signal was detected from the dendrimer film on the glass surface, consisting of a combination of randomly located emissions, which was a consequence of the strong inhomogeneity of the samples. Since the generation of a nonlinear signal occurs at individual points of the sample, this does not allow us to analyze the anisotropy of the nonlinear properties of dendrimer films.

In conclusion, consider the results of pressure-area isotherms and visualization techniques, synthesized sulfonimide dendrimers can be applicable to form two types of films. The obtained films were successfully transferred to various substrates and analyzed following the assigned objectives. The UV stabilization leads to a change in both the morphology and the wettability of the films.

Conclusion

During the synthetic part of this work, the methodology of the synthesis of sulfonimide based dendrimers decorated with naphthyl groups was developed. Both convergent and divergent synthetic approaches to the sulfonimide-based dendrons were realized. The combination of divergent and convergent ways allows obtaining 2nd and 3rd generations of the dendrimer. As long as the convergent route reaches its practical limit at thirdgeneration, developing the divergent path has better chances at achieving higher generation sulfonimide-based dendrimer.

The divergent synthesis of sulfonimide-based dendrimers was considerably improved and expanded to higher molecular weight species. The yields of the dendrimers were significantly increased compared to those of the formerly available method by utilizing a two-step persulfonylation approach. The multigram availability of the fourth-generation hexadecanitro-dendrimer allowed the synthesis of the fifth-generation sulfonimide-based dendrimer for the first time, on a 2g scale.

For the first time, we created Langmuir-Blodgett thin films made up of sulfonimidebased dendrimers of 2nd, 3rd, 4th, and 5th generations. The Langmuir-Blodgett method allows us to carry out a controlled process of dendrimer microstructuring, which is a way toward real-world applications, and obtain films with thicknesses of 3-5 nm. Moreover, the design of investigated dendrimers allows creating noncovalently and covalently bonded films.

The morphology and structure of obtained films were investigated by microscopic methods. The microstructure of all samples has similar cylindrically-liked objects. Confirmation of the mechanical stability of thin films of dendrimers was achieved by successful transfer to the metal grid holder. For measuring Young's modulus, a technique suitable for the analysis of polymers was selected. Young's modulus values do not exceed 1 GPa, which, as expected, corresponds to soft polymer materials.

Contact angle measurements evaluated the wettability of dendrimer films. The hydrophobicity of the films made from the 2^{nd} generation to the 5^{th} generation increased. The contact angle of the transferred films increased by 33° for the 5^{th} generation of

dendrimer and reached 90°. Also, the results of the apparent contact angle showed a dependence on the surface roughness. Preliminary experiments on the thin-film formation and contact angle measurements show the potential use of fourth- and fifth-generation species for surface engineering applications.

Also, for the first time, nonlinear optical properties of transferred films were investigated. A nonlinear signal was detected for the film sample made of the 5th generation of the dendrimer.

Thus, films from pre-modeled and synthesized dendrimers were successfully obtained and were first thoroughly investigated using the entire spectrum of available methods. The analysis of dendrimer films transferred on solid substrates promises that sulfonimidebased dendrimers can be used as coating materials to modify the properties of solid surfaces at the nanoscale to produce improved materials with hydrophobic properties.

Future work/Directions

Understanding wetting on modified surfaces is essential for designing, controlling, and predicting wetting processes in general. To enhance the hydrophobic properties of the surface, the principle of decorating structures with water repellent functional groups (naphthyl end groups) was used in this work. The structures of dendrimers can be easily tuned by such hydrophobic groups at the periphery in such a way that with an increase of generation, the number of surface projected hydrophobic groups increases by 2n, where n equals generation number. This work showed that introducing hydrophobic groups into the dendrimer structure with further applying such dendrimer as a coating could lead to the appearance of hydrophobic properties of a surface. Factors affecting the wettability are surface roughness, the relative concentration of hydrophilic particles and hydrophobic ones, and their arrangement on the layer. The surface wettability of naphthyl-functionalized dendrimer noncovalent films was characterized by contact angle measurement.

Interestingly, the water contact angle of 3rd and 4th generations of dendrimer samples was equally close to 70 degrees, whereas, for the 2nd and 5th, the difference in contact angles with water was about 33 degrees. This study has focused on the way to alter the properties of surfaces by creating patterned surfaces, for which the wetting properties vary spatially in a controlled way. Interestingly, fabricating such structures requires a careful design strategy, including core selection, synthesis procedure, purification, and, finally, can be limited due to steric effects. It is possible to overcome these problems by putting forward a clearer understanding of future material design strategies, principles for organic end groups that decrease surface free energy. Moreover, it is essential to analyze structural patterns that lead to hydrophobicity, the influence of the number of functional groups, and the effect of their spatial distribution on contact angle values.

Since the surface covered by the film of dendrimers has a roughness, the wettability of rough surface can be explained by two models: Wenzel and Cassie - Baxter. According to the Wenzel model, the water drops on a rough surface are semi-spherical in shape and wets the surface. According to the Cassie - Baxter surface roughness forms voids filled

with air, so a drop of water cannot take a spherical shape and rests on a rough texture with air pockets trapped in between. This leads to the low adhesion of the water drop to the surface. To define the suitable model, it is needed to evaluate the experimentally measured parameters such as the spreading coefficient and the work of adhesion. The contact angle of the film coatings with liquids is a basis for the determination of these parameters. Apart from the contact angle, it would be interesting to estimate the rolling angle. If dendrimer films significantly reduce the rolling angle, this will not only benefit the Cassie-Baxter model, but also allow unlocking the potential of such complex and rather expensive materials as dendrimers for real applications, that is, for self-cleaning surfaces, etc.

Along with surface roughness and shape, the size, height, and periodic patterning could also lead to an increase in the surface water contact angle. For example, the distribution of the naphthyl terminal groups can create surface tension and decrease free surface energy or increase surface roughness. The surface tension can be changed by increasing the number of naphthyl groups. Therefore, the evaluation of the dependence of surface tension on the functional group's spatial distributions can help to understand the correlation between the structure of dendrimer and hydrophobic properties.

Thus, a more detailed study of the relationship between surface tension and the branching of the structural patterns of dendrimer can lead to the creation of a model, which helps to predict structure - properties correlations.

Appendix. Experimental section

A.1 Reagents and methods

3-Methoxypropan-1-amine 1, 4-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride 2, 3-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride, and solvents (dichloromethane, ethanol, and dimethylformamide) were purchased from commercial sources and used without further purification. The monitoring of the reaction course was performed by thin-layer chromatography (TLC) on silica gel-coated aluminum plates (G/UV254 plates of Macherey-Nagel & Co.). Chromatography purification was performed using Merck silica gel 60, 230-400 mesh. Melting points were determined on a Buchi microscope heating unit and are uncorrected. ¹H and ¹³C spectra were recorded on Bruker Fourier 300 and Bruker Ascend 600 NMR spectrometers. Mass spectra were recorded on Agilent 1100 LCMSD SL (ESI), Agilent GC7820A/MSD5977B system (EI, ionization energy - 70eV), and Waters SYNAPT G2-Si (ESI) and FT-MALDI MS (IonSpec Ultra Instrument) spectrometers. MALDI-TOF mass spectra were measured on UltraFlex III TOF/TOF with PNA matrix, laser Nd: YAG, $\lambda = 355$ mm. Elemental analysis was performed on a Vario Micro cube CHNS analyzer. Samples for the elemental analysis were dried with the aid of an oil vacuum pump (0.05mm Hg) for two weeks. Average values of three independent measurements are reported.

A.2 Procedures

Scheme 1

Compound 1a. 4-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride (4.95 g, 22.3 mmol) was added to a mixture of 4-methoxybenzyamine (1.44 g, 10.5 mmol) and triethylamine (6.8 ml, 49.15 mmol) in dichloromethane (100 mL) suspension. The stirred reaction mixture was heated at 80°C in an oil bath for 2 hours. Then DCM was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder with isopropyl alcohol. The colorless precipitated product was filtered and washed with isopropyl alcohol. The yield of product 1a is 4.2 g (78.81%). ¹H NMR (DMSO, 300MHz) δ (ppm): 3.82 (s, 3H, OC<u>H</u>₃), 6.80 (d, 2H, Ar<u>H</u>), 7.31 (d, 2H, Ar<u>H</u>), 4.98 (s, 2H, NC<u>H</u>₂), 7.95 (d, 4H, Ar<u>H</u>), 8.29 (d, 4H, Ar<u>H</u>).

¹³C NMR (DMSO, 75 MHz) δ (ppm): 52.97, 114.07, 124.06, 125.25, 129.54, 131.06, 145.03, 150.56, 160.15.

Reduction of dinitroaromatic compound. Compound 1a (2.5 g, 4.92 mmol) and tin chloride $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$ (5 g, 22.16 mmol) were dissolved in a mixture of dichloromethane/ethanol (1:1, 150 mL). The reaction mixture was heated at 65°C in an oil bath. After 30 min, a few drops of concentrated hydrochloric acid were added to facilitate a complete dissolution of $SnCl_2$, and the mixture was refluxed for 3 hours. Then the reaction mixture was transferred into a separatory funnel with 400 mL of water and NaOH (in an amount to adjust pH to 10-12). The organic part of the solution was separated, washed with water and then with brine, and dried over Na₂SO₄. The solvent was removed by rotary evaporation. According to the NMR analysis, the mixture of unidentified compounds was obtained.

Scheme 2

Compound 2a. 4-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride (5.24 g, 23.6 mmol) was added to a solution of aniline (1 g, 10.7 mmol) and triethylamine (2.2 mL, 15.9 mmol) in dichloromethane (100 mL) suspension. The stirred reaction mixture was heated at 80°C in an oil bath for 2 hours. Then DCM was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder with ethanol. The precipitated product was filtered and washed with ethanol. The yield of product 2a is 2.2 g (55%). 1H NMR (DMSO, 300MHz) δ (ppm): 7.14 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.52 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.59 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.10 (m, 4H, ArH), 8.50 (m, 4H, ArH), ¹³C NMR (DMSO, 75 MHz) δ (ppm): 125.55, 130.33, 130.49, 131.68, 131.79, 133.08, 143.50, 151.40.

Compound 2b. Compound 2a (1g, 5.89 mmol) and $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$ (4,6 g, 20.4 mmol) were dissolved in a mixture dichloromethane/ethanol (1:1, 150 mL). The reaction mixture was heated up to 65°C in an oil bath. After 30 min, a few drops of concentrated hydrochloric acid were added to facilitate a complete dissolution of $SnCl_2$, and the mixture was refluxed for 3h. Then the reaction mixture was transferred into a separatory funnel with 400 mL of water and NaOH (in the amount to adjust pH to 10-12). The

organic part of the solution was separated, washed with water and then with brine, and dried over Na₂SO₄. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation. The yield of product 2b is 0.4 g (35%). 1H NMR (DMSO, 300 MHz) δ (ppm): 6.33 (s, 4H, N<u>H</u>₂), 6.60 (m, 4H, Ar<u>H</u>), 6.91 (m, 2H, Ar<u>H</u>), 7.36 (m, 4H, Ar<u>H</u>), 7.39 (m, 3H, Ar<u>H</u>). ¹³C NMR (DMSO, 75 MHz) δ (ppm): 112.79, 123.4, 130.72, 131.79, 135.27, 154.56.

Compound 2c. Compound 2b (0.4 g, 0.99 mmol) was added to a solution of 4nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride (1,54 g, 6,95 mmol) and triethylamine (0.73 mL, 5.28 mmol) in dichloromethane (100 mL) suspension. The stirred reaction mixture was heated up to 80°C in an oil bath for 2h. Then the solvent was removed under vacuum, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder with ethanol. The precipitated product was filtered and washed with ethanol. The obtained material was insoluble, preventing its characterization and further use.

Scheme 3

Compound 3a. 4-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride (14.9 g, 67.2 mmol) was added to a solution of 3-methoxypropylamine (2 g, 22.4 mmol) and triethylamine (6 mL, 43.37 mmol) in dichloromethane (100 mL) suspension. The stirred reaction mixture was heated up to 80°C in an oil bath for 2h. Then the solvent was removed under vacuum, and the solid residue was triturated with ethanol. The precipitated product was filtered and washed with ethanol. The yield of product 3a is 3.84 g (70%). ¹H NMR (DMSO, 300MHz) δ (ppm): 1.95 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂CH₂), 3.31 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.40 (t, 2H, CH₂O), 8.43 (d, 4H, ArH), 3.91 (t, 2H, NCH₂), 8.30 (d, 4H, ArH). ¹³C NMR (DMSO, 75 MHz) δ (ppm): 30.15, 47.97, 58.69, 69.07, 124.46, 129.74, 144.88, 150.84. The melting point is 146°C.

Compound 3b. Compound 3a (2g, 4.4 mmol) and $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$ (5.95 g, 26.37 mmol) were dissolved in a mixture of dichloromethane/ethanol (1:1, 150 mL). The reaction mixture was heated up to 65°C in an oil bath. After 30 min, a few drops of concentrated hydrochloric acid were added to facilitate a complete dissolution of $SnCl_2$, and the mixture was refluxed for 3h. Then the reaction mixture was transferred into a separatory

funnel with 400 mL of water and NaOH (in an amount to adjust pH to 10-12). The organic part of the solution was separated, washed with water and then with brine, and dried over Na₂SO₄. Then the solvent was removed under vacuum. The yield of product 3b is 0.9 g (45%). ¹H NMR (DMSO, 300MHz) δ (ppm): 1.75 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂CH₂), 3.19 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.26 (t, 2H, CH₂O), 7.41 (d, 4H, ArH), 3.51 (t, 2H, NCH₂), 6.60 (d, 4H, ArH), 6.26 (s, 4H, NH₂). ¹³C NMR (DMSO, 75 MHz) δ (ppm): 30.22, 46.30, 58.23, 69.52, 112.84, 123.94, 130.36, 154.40. The melting point is 178°C.

Compound 3c. Compound 3b (0.9 g, 19.59 mmol) was added to a solution of 4nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride (3 g, 13.54 mmol) and triethylamine (0.73 mL, 5.28 mmol) in dichloromethane (100 mL) suspension. The stirred reaction mixture was heated up to 80°C in an oil bath for 2 h. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder with ethanol. The precipitated product was filtered and washed with ethanol. The yield of product 3c is 3.84 g (58%). ¹H NMR (DMSO, 300MHz) δ (ppm): 1.85 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂CH₂), 3.21 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.87 (t, 2H, CH₂O), 7.41 (d, 4H, ArH), 3.50 (t, 2H, NCH₂), 7.50 (d, 4H, ArH), 8.00 (d, 4H, ArH), 8.50 (d, 4H, ArH), 8.13 (d, 4H, ArH). ¹³C NMR (DMSO, 75 MHz) δ (ppm): 30.11, 47.78, 58.35, 69.10, 125.62, 130.02, 130.51, 133.23, 142.9, 151.57. The melting point is 322°C.

Compound 3d. Compound 3c (1g, 0.877 mmol) and SnCl₂·2H₂O (3.56 g, 15.78 mmol) were dissolved in a mixture dichloromethane/ethanol (1:1, 150 mL). The reaction mixture was heated up to 65°C in an oil bath. After 30 min, a few drops of concentrated hydrochloric acid were added to facilitate a complete dissolution of SnCl₂, and the mixture was refluxed for 3h. Then the reaction mixture was transferred into a separatory funnel with 400 mL of water and NaOH (in an amount to adjust pH to 10-12). The organic part of the solution was separated, washed with water and then with brine, and dried over Na₂SO₄. Then the solvent was removed under vacuum. The yield of product 3d is 1.4 g (50%). ¹H NMR (DMSO, 300MHz) δ (ppm): 1.77 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂CH₂), 2.50 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.20 (t, 2H, CH₂O), 6.60 (d, 8H, ArH), 3.80 (t, 2H, NCH₂), 7.27 (d, 4H, ArH), 7.30 (d, 8H, ArH), 7.89 (d, 4H, ArH), 6.39 (s, 8H, NH₂). ¹³C NMR (DMSO, 75

MHz) δ (ppm): 29.96, 47.57, 58.33, 69.11, 112.90, 122.49, 129.17, 130.88, 133.02, 139.98, 140.48, 154.91.

Scheme 4

Compound 3e. Compound 3d (0.54 g, 0.529 mmol) was added to a solution of 2naphthalenesulfonyl chloride (1.92 g, 8.46 mmol) and triethylamine (1.17 mL, 8.46 mmol) in dichloromethane (100 mL). The stirred reaction mixture was heated up to 80°C in an oil bath for 2h. Then the solvent was removed under vacuum and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder with ethanol. The precipitated product was filtered and washed with ethanol. The yield of product 3e is 0.25 g (58%). Product 3e was purified on silica gel with 2% ethylacetate/dichloromethane. ¹H NMR (DMSO, 300MHz) δ (ppm): 2.01 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂CH₂), 3.26 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.37 (t, 2H, CH₂O), 6.60 (d, 8H, ArH), 3.89 (m, 2H, NCH₂), 7.27 (d, 4H, ArH), 7.30 (d, 8H, ArH), 7.89 (d, 4H, ArH), 6.39 (s, 8H, NH₂). ¹³C NMR (DMSO, 75 MHz) δ (ppm): 30.35, 47.86, 58.58, 69.23, 122.71, 128, 129.44, 129.69, 129.72, 129.88, 130.77, 131.81, 132.35, 132.70, 135.47, 135.48, 138.59, 139.61, 140.04, 141.19. Melting point is 153°C.

Scheme 5

Compound 1. 1-Fluoro-4-nitrobenzene (10 g, 0.071 mol) was added to benzyl thiol (8.74 g, 0.07 mol) in the presence of K_2CO_3 in dimethylformamide DMF (50 ml). The stirred reaction mixture was heated up to 50°C in an oil bath for 24h. The reaction mixture was poured into hydrochloric acid (220 ml), and the obtained precipitate was filtered. The yield of product 1 is 17.14 g (99%).

Compound 2. Compound 1 (2.5 g, 0.01 mol) and $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$ (11.25 g, 0.05 mol) were dissolved in a mixture dichloromethane/ethanol (1:1, 150 mL). The reaction mixture was heated up to 65°C in an oil bath. After 30 min, a few drops of concentrated hydrochloric acid were added to facilitate a complete dissolution of $SnCl_2$, and the mixture was refluxed for 3h. Then the reaction mixture was transferred into a separatory funnel with 400 mL of water and NaOH (in an amount to adjust pH to 10-12). The organic part of the

solution was separated, washed with water and then with brine, and dried over Na_2SO_4 . Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation. The yield of product 2 is 1.2 g (48%).

Compound 3. 4-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride (8.9 g, 0.04 mol) was added to a solution of Compound 2 (1.2 g, 0.01 mol) and triethylamine (6 mL, 43.37 mmol) in dichloromethane (100 mL) suspension. The stirred reaction mixture was heated up to 80° C in an oil bath for 2h. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder with ethanol. The precipitated product was filtered and washed with ethanol. The yield of product 3 is 0.84 g (70%).

Compound 4. Compound 3 (0.84 g, 0.01 mol) and $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$ (7 g, 0.03 mol) were dissolved in a mixture dichloromethane/ethanol (1:1, 150 mL). The reaction mixture was heated up to 65°C in an oil bath. After 30 min, a few drops of concentrated hydrochloric acid were added to facilitate a complete dissolution of $SnCl_2$, and the mixture was refluxed for 3h. Then the reaction mixture was transferred into a separatory funnel with 400 mL of water and NaOH (in an amount to adjust pH to 10-12). The organic part of the solution was separated, washed with water and then with brine, and dried over Na₂SO₄. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation. The yield of product 4 is 0.5 g (58%).

Compound 5. Compound 4 (0.5 g, 2.49 mmol) was added to a solution of 2-naphthalenesulfonyl chloride (1.92 g, 8.46 mmol) and triethylamine (1.17 mL, 8.46 mmol) in dichloromethane (100 mL). The stirred reaction mixture was heated up to 80° C in an oil bath for 24h. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was triturated with ethanol. The precipitated product was filtered and washed with ethanol. The yield of product 5 is 0.41 g (50%).

Compound 6. Compound 5 (0.41 g) and *N*-chlorosuccinimide (0.49 g) were dissolved in a mixture of dichloromethane/AcOH (1:1, 150 mL) in the presence of HCl, AcOH at 5° C for 24 h. The yield of product 5 is 0.32 g (39%).

Scheme 6

Compound 7. Compound 6 (0.32 g, 0.32 mmol) was added to tetraethylene glycol monomethyl ether (0.011 ml) and triethylamine (1.17 mL, 8.46 mmol) in dichloromethane (100 mL). The stirred reaction mixture was heated up to 80° C in an oil bath for 24h. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder with ethanol. The precipitated product was filtered and washed with ethanol. The yield of product 7 is 0.15 g (26%).

Scheme 7

4-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride (8.9 g, 0.04 mol) was added to a solution of Methoxypolyethylene glycol amine (2 g, 9.64 mmol) and triethylamine (6 mL, 43.37 mmol) in dichloromethane (100 mL) suspension. The stirred reaction mixture was heated up to 80°C in an oil bath for 2h. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder with ethanol. The precipitated product was filtered, washed with ethanol. The yield is 1.56 g (78%). Then prepared dinitro compound (1.56 g, 2.7 mmol) and SnCl₂·2H₂O (7 g, 0.03 mol) were dissolved in a mixture dichloromethane/ethanol (1:1, 150 mL). The reaction mixture was heated up to 65°C in an oil bath. After 30 min, a few drops of concentrated hydrochloric acid were added to facilitate a complete dissolution of SnCl₂, and the mixture was refluxed for 3h. Then the reaction mixture was transferred into a separatory funnel with 400 mL of water and NaOH (in an amount to adjust pH to 10-12). The organic part of the solution was separated, washed with water and then with brine, and dried over Na₂SO₄. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation. The yield is 1.2 g (60%). The reduced product (1.2 g, 2.3 mmol) was added to a solution of 2-naphthalenesulfonyl chloride (1.92 g, 8.46 mmol) and triethylamine (1.17 mL, 8.46 mmol) in dichloromethane (100 mL). The stirred reaction mixture was heated up to 80°C in an oil bath for 2h. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder with ethanol. The precipitated product was filtered and washed with ethanol. The yield of the product is 1.12 g (58%).

Scheme 8

Compound 8a. A stirred solution of diamine 4 (1 g, 1.9 mmol), triethylamine (2 g, 20 mmol), and 4-nitrophenylsulfonyl chloride (3.4 g, 15 mmol) in dichloromethane (60 mL) were heated under reflux. After 3h of stirring, a reddish solid substance started to precipitate. The stirring was continued for another 3h. The stirred reaction mixture was allowed to cool to room temperature, and then methanol (60 mL) was added to the mixture. The solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder t with methanol. The precipitated solid was filtered on a glass filter, washed twice with methanol, and dried under ambient conditions. The resulting reddish powder was recrystallized twice from acetone-methanol. The yield of product 8a is 1.2 g (48%), yellowish powder, mp = $200-202^{\circ}$ C. [Found: C, 46.52; H, 2.85; N, 7.69; S, 17.79. C₄₉H₃₅N₇O₂₀S₇ requires C, 46.48; H, 2.79; N, 7.74; S, 17.72 %]; δH (300 MHz, DMSO-d6) 8.50 (8H, d, J 8.4 Hz, ArH), 8.13 (8H, d, J 8.4 Hz, ArH), 7.84 (4H, d, J 8.4 Hz, ArH),7.47–7.23 (12H, m, ArH), 6.92 (2H, d, J 8.4 Hz, ArH), 4.29 (2H, s, CH₂S); δc (75 MHz, CDCl₃) 152.01, 143.25, 140.65, 138.79, 137.51, 137.1, 133.78, 132.1, 130.35, 129.8, 129.3, 129.0, 128.4, 127.78, 126.04, 125.4, 36.3; m/z (MALDI-TOF) 1288.2 $(MNa^{+}).$

Compound 8b. 1 g (0.8 mmol) of Compound 8a and 4 g of $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$ were used in the reaction. Yield: 0.8 g (92%), yellow powder, mp = 209–211°C. δ H (300 MHz, DMSO-d6) 8.69 (4H, d, J 8.3 Hz, ArH), 7.34–7.23 (24H, m, ArH), 6.82 (2H, d, J 8.3 Hz, ArH), 6.62 (8H, d, J 8.3 Hz, ArH), 6.38 (8H, s, NH₂), 4.30 (2H, s, CH₂S); m/z (ESI) 1146.2 (MH+).

Compound 9. Method A (divergent): A stirred mixture of tetraamine 8b (0.8 g, 0.7 mmol), triethylamine (1.2 g, 11.4 mmol), and 2- naphthalenesulfonyl chloride (1.3 g, 5.7 mmol) was heated to reflux in a 1:1 mixture of dichloromethane/acetone (40 mL) for 6h. Then the liquid components of the reaction mixture were removed by rotary evaporation. The solid residue was dissolved in dichloromethane (50 mL). Triethylamine (1.2 g, 11.4 mmol) and 2-naphthalenesulfonyl chloride (1.3 g, 5.7 mmol) were added to the solution. The reaction mixture was refluxed with constant stirring for 12 hours. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder

with methanol. The solid precipitate was filtered through a glass funnel filter and thoroughly washed with methanol. Upon drying in vacuum, the crude product was purified by column chromatography on silica gel with $CH_2Cl_2/EtOAc$ (99:1), Rf = 0.35. Yield: 1.3 g (68%), white powder, mp = 177–180 °C. [Found: C, 58.12; H, 3.49; N 3.61; S, 18.08. C₁₂₉H₉₁N₇O₂₈S₁₅ requires C, 58.07; H, 3.44; N, 3.67; S, 18.02%]; δH (300 MHz, CDCl₃) 8.45 (8H, d, J 1.7 Hz, ArH), 7.99–7.82 (32H, m, ArH), 7.80–7.72 (12H, m, ArH), 7.71–7.59 (16H, m, ArH), 7.29–7.19 (15H, m, ArH), 7.14 (4H, d, J 8.4 Hz, ArH), 6.91 (2H, d, J 8.4 Hz, ArH), 4.08 (2H, s, CH₂S); δc (75 MHz, CDCl₃) 141.98, 140.79, 140.04, 139.61, 138.71, 135.94, 135.46, 135.45, 132.71, 132.26, 131.80, 131.49, 130.78, 130.13, 129.91, 129.72, 128.81, 128.71, 128.15, 128.02, 127.58, 122.69, 37.48; m/z (MALDI-TOF) 2665.1 (MNa+). Method B (convergent): A stirred solution of amine 2 (51 mg, 0.24 mmol), triethylamine (1 g, 10 mmol), and sulfonyl chloride 6 (1.2 g, 9.5 mmol) in dichloromethane (20 mL) were heated to reflux for 6h. The solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue triturated with methanol. The solid precipitate was filtered through a glass filter and washed with methanol. Upon drying in vacuum, the crude product S7 was purified by column chromatography on silica gel with CH₂Cl₂/EtOAc (99:1), Rf = 0.35. Yield: 0.55 g (86%). Melting point and spectral data match those of the compound prepared by method A (divergent).

Compound 10. 1 g (0.38 mmol) of Compound 9, (0.20 g, 1.4 mmol) and N-chlorosuccinimide were used in the reaction. Yield: 0.9 g (90%), white powder, mp = $173-174^{\circ}$ C. [Found: C, 55.48; H, 3.29; N 3.78; S, 18.11. C₁₂₂H₈₄ClN₇O₃₀S₁₅ requires C, 55.41; H, 3.20; 1.34; N, 3.71; S, 18.19%]; δ H (300 MHz, CDCl₃) 8.46 (8H, s, ArH), 8.06–7.75 (48H, m, ArH), 7.72–7.59 (16H, m, ArH), 7.35–7.26 (8H, m, ArH), 7.20 (4H, d, J 8.4 Hz, ArH); δ c (75 MHz, CDCl₃) 145.79, 140.19, 140.15, 139.56, 139.29, 135.48, 135.48, 132.75, 132.52, 131.82, 130.80, 129.90, 129.72, 128.31, 128.02, 122.71; m/z (MALDI-TOF) 2666.8 (MNa⁺).

Scheme 9

Compound 3. A mixture of 3-methoxypropan-1-amine **1** (5 g, 0.056 mol), triethylamine (23 g, 0.225 mol), and 4-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride **2** (37 g, 0.168 mol) was stirred in dichloromethane (600 mL) at reflux for 2h. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder with methanol. The solid precipitate was filtered through a glass funnel filter and thoroughly washed with methanol. The resulting colorless powder was dried in a vacuum. Yield 22.6 g (88%); m.p. 139–140°C.

¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): d = 8.44 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 4H), 8.29 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 4H), 3.88-3.94 (m, 2H), 3.38 (t, *J* = 6 Hz, 2H), 3.31 (s, 3H), 1.92-1.98 (m, 2H).

¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz): d =150.84, 144.88, 129.74, 124.46, 69.07, 58.69, 47.97, 30.15.

MS (EI, 70 eV): $m/z = 459.0 [M]^+$.

Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₇N₃O₉S₂: C 41.83; H 3.73; N 9.15; S 13.96. Found: C 41.73; H, 3.77; N 9.00; S 13.82.

Compound 4. A mixture of Compound **3** (5 g, 0.011 mol), $SnCl_2 2H_2O$ (20 g, fourfold mass excess), and concentrated hydrochloric acid (5 mL) was refluxed in ethanol (300 mL) for 2h, cooled down to room temperature, and then poured onto ice. The pH was adjusted to 10 with 2 M aqueous solution NaOH, and the obtained amine was extracted with dichloromethane, dried over magnesium sulfate (MgSO₄), and then evaporated to give Compound **4** as a colorless solid. Yield 4.27 g (98%).

¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆, 300 MHz): d = 7.41 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 4H), 6.59 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 4H), 6.26 (s, 4H), 3.49-3.54 (m, 2H), 3.38 (s, 3H), 3.26 (t, *J* = 6 Hz, 2H) 1.75-1.80 (m, 2H).

¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆, 75 MHz): d =154.40, 130.36, 123.94, 112.84, 69.52, 58.23, 46.30, 30.22. MS (ESI): *m*/z calcd for $C_{16}H_{21}N_3O_5S_2$ [M+H]⁺ 400.09. Found: 400.1.

Compound 5. A mixture of diamine **4** (4 g, 0.01 mol), triethylamine (8.1 g, 0.08 mol), and 4-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride **2** (13.3 g, 0.06 mol) were stirred in dichloromethane (250 mL) at reflux for 2h. During this time, the product slowly precipitated from the reaction mixture. Then the reaction mixture was cooled down to room temperature, and methanol (250 mL) was slowly added at intensive stirring. The solid precipitate was

filtered through a glass funnel filter and thoroughly washed with methanol. The resulting colorless powder was dried in a vacuum. Yield 8.9 g (78%); m.p. 220–222°C.

¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆, 300 MHz): d = 8.49 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 8H), 8.13 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 8H), 8.0 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 4H), 7,48 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 4H), 3.84-3.89 (m, 2H), 3.33 (t, *J* = 6 Hz, 2H), 3.21 (s, 3H), 1.81-1.86 (m, 2H).

¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆, 75 MHz): d =151.57, 142.90, 141.20, 138.12, 133.23, 130.51, 130.02, 125.62, 69.10, 58.35, 47.78, 30.11.

Anal. Calcd for C₄₀H₃₃N₇O₂₁S₆: C 42.14; H 2.92; N 8.60; S 16.87. Found: C 42.02; H, 2.88; N 8.56; S 16.68.

Compound 6. A mixture of Compound **5** (5 g, 4.4 mmol), $SnCl_2 H_2O$ (20 g, fourfold mass excess), and concentrated hydrochloric acid (5 mL) was stirred at 40 °C in a 1:1 mixture of EtOH/dichloromethane (400 mL) for 6h. During this time, the reaction mixture became uniform, homogeneous. The mixture was cooled down to room temperature, poured into deionized water (800 mL), and transferred into a 2L separatory funnel. An additional portion of dichloromethane (200 mL) was added. The dichloromethane part was separated, washed with water (2x500 mL), 3% aqueous NaHCO₃ (2x500 mL), and with brine (2x500 mL), dried over MgSO₄, and then evaporated to give Compound **6** as a colorless solid. Yield 4.12 g (92%).

¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆, 300 MHz): d = 7.89 (d, J = 9 Hz, 4H), 7.32 (d, J = 9 Hz, 8H), 7.26 (d, J = 9 Hz, 4H), 6.60 (d, J = 9 Hz, 8H) 6.38 (s, 8H), 3.77-3.82 (m, 2H), 3.30 (t, J = 6 Hz, 2H), 3.20 (s, 3H), 1.74-1.79 (m, 2H).

¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆, 75 MHz): d =154.91, 140.48, 139.98, 133.02, 130.88, 128.17, 122.49, 112.90, 69.11, 58.33, 47.57, 29.96.

MS (ESI): m/z calcd for C₄₀H₄₁N₇O₁₃S₆ [M+H]⁺ 1020.11. Found: 1020.12.

Compound 7. A mixture of tetraamine **6** (4 g, 3.9 mmol), triethylamine (4.8 g, 0.047 mol), and 3-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride (7.0 g, 0.031 mol) was refluxed in a 1:1 mixture of dichloromethane/acetone (200 mL) at reflux for 2h. Then the liquid components of the reaction mixture were removed by rotary evaporation. The solid residue was dissolved in dichloromethane (200 mL). Triethylamine (4.8 g, 0.047 mol)

and 3-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride (7.0 g, 0.031 mol) were added to the solution. The reaction mixture was refluxed for 24h. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was triturated with methanol. The solid precipitate was filtered through a glass funnel filter and thoroughly washed with methanol. Upon drying in vacuum, the raw product was purified by column chromatography on silica gel with CH₂Cl₂/EtOAc (98:2), $R_f = 0.35$. Colorless powder; yield 6.8 g (69%); m.p. 175–180°C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): d = 8.75 (s, 8H0, 8.57-8.60 (m, 8H), 8.28 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 8H), 7.86-7.96 (m, 20H), 7.23-7.30 (7.23-7.30), 3.88-3.93 (m, 2H), 3.42 (t, *J* = 6 Hz, 2H),

3.29 (s, 3H), 2.04 (br s, 2H).

¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz): d = 148.32, 141.30, 140.55, 140.15, 138.73, 138.29, 134.04, 132.20, 131.07, 130.23, 129.67, 129.26, 123.93, 69.25, 58.55, 47.88, 30.39.

MS (ESI pos., CH_3OH/CH_2Cl_2): *m/z* calcd for $C_{88}H_{65}N_{15}O_{45}S_{14}[M+Na]^+$ 2521.92. Found 2521.91.

Anal. Calcd for C₈₈H₆₅N₁₅O₄₅S₁₄: C 42.26; H 2.62; N 8.40; S, 17.94. Found: C 42.15; H 2.70; N 8.27; S, 17.79.

Scheme 10

Compound 8. A mixture of Compound 7 (5 g, 2 mmol), $SnCl_2 2H_2O$ (20 g, fourfold mass excess), and concentrated hydrochloric acid (5 mL) was stirred at 40 °C in a 1:1 mixture of EtOH/dichloromethane (400 mL) for 6h. The mixture was cooled down to room temperature, poured into deionized water (800 mL), and transferred into a 2L separatory funnel. Dichloromethane (200 mL) was added. The dichloromethane layer was separated, washed with water (2x500 mL), 3% aqueous NaHCO₃ (2x500 mL), and with brine (2x500 mL), dried over MgSO₄, and then evaporated to give Compound **8** as a colorless solid. Yield 4.1 g (90%).

¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆, 300 MHz): d = 8.15 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 4H), 7.84 (d, *J* 7= 9 Hz, 8H), 7.42 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 4H), 7.35 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 8H), 7.26 (t, *J* = 8.1, 8H), 7.05 (s, 8H), 6.85-6.93 (m, 8H), 5.77 (s, 16H), 3.91 (br 2H), 3.25 (t, *J* = 6 Hz, 2H), 3.13 (s, 3H), 1.76 (br, 2H).

MS (ESI pos., CH₃OH): *m*/z calc for C₈₈H₇₉N₁₅O₃₁S₁₄ [M+H]⁺ 2290.12. Found: 2290.10.

Compound 9a. A mixture of octaamine **8** (4 g, 1.7 mmol), triethylamine (4.3 g, 0.042 mol), and 3-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride (6.2 g, 0.028 mol) was refluxed in a 1:1 mixture of dichloromethane/acetone (200 mL) at reflux for 4h. Then the liquid components of the reaction mixture were removed by rotary evaporation. The solid residue was dissolved in dichloromethane (200 mL). Triethylamine (4.3 g, 0.042 mol) and 3-nitrobenzenesulfonyl chloride (6.2 g, 0.028 mol) were added to the solution. The reaction mixture was refluxed for 72h. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder with methanol. The solid precipitate was filtered through a glass funnel filter and thoroughly washed with methanol. Upon drying in vacuum, the raw product was purified by column chromatography on silica gel with CH₂Cl₂/EtOAc (97:3), $R_{\rm f} = 0.27$. Colorless powder; yield 4 g (44%), melting region 172–188°C.

¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 600 MHz): d = 8.75 (s, 16H), 8.57 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 16H), 8.35 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 16H), 8.02 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 8H), 7.95 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 4H), 7.87-7.90 (m, 24H), 7.73 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 8H), 7.64 (s, 8H), 7.50 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 8H), 7.21-7.25 (m, 12H), 3.81 (br, 2H), 3.35 (t, J = 6 Hz, 2H), 3.23 (s, 3H), 2.14 (br, 2H).

¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz): d = 148.32, 141.38, 140.50, 140.09, 138.69, 138.42, 137.20, 134.23, 134.01, 132.25, 131.73, 131.22, 130.62, 130.17, 129.56, 129.30, 123.96, 69.21, 58.51, 29.69.

MS (HR MALDI, dithranol+Na-TFA): m/z calcd for $C_{184}H_{129}N_{31}O_{93}S_{30}$ [M+Na]⁺ 5241.78. Found 5241.68.

Anal. Calcd for C₁₈₄H₁₂₉N₃₁O₉₃S₃₀: C 42.31; H 2.49; N 8.31; S 18.41. Found: C 42.18; H 2.60; N 8.18; S 18.24.

Compound 9b. A mixture of octaamine **8** (4 g, 1.7 mmol), triethylamine (4.3 g, 0.042 mol), and 2-naphthalenesulfonyl chloride (6.4 g, 0.028 mol) was refluxed in a 1:1 mixture of dichloromethane/acetone (200 mL) at reflux for 4h. Then the liquid components of the reaction mixture were removed by rotary evaporation. The solid residue was dissolved in dichloromethane (200 mL). Triethylamine (4.3 g, 0.042 mol) and 2-naphthalenesulfonyl chloride (6.4 g, 0.028 mol) were added to the solution. The

reaction mixture was refluxed for 72h. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was triturated with methanol. The solid precipitate was filtered through a glass funnel filter and thoroughly washed with methanol. Upon drying in vacuum, the raw product was purified by column chromatography on silica gel with CH₂Cl₂/EtOAc (98:2), $R_{\rm f} = 0.40$. Colorless powder; yield 5.2 g (56%), melting region 155–178°C.

¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): d = 8.47 (s, 16H), 7.78-7.99 (m, 92H), 7.50-7.63 (m, 40H), 7.35 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 8H), 7.20 (d, *J* = 8.7 Hz, 8H), 7.15 (d, *J* = 8.7 Hz, 4H), 3.76 (br, 2H), 3.17 (t, *J* = 6 Hz, 2H), 3.08 (s, 3H), 1.80 (br, 2H).

¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz): d = 141.54, 140.45, 140.02, 138.92, 138.50, 137.73, 135.55, 135.48, 132.33, 132.13, 131.82, 130.78, 130.26, 130.03, 129.77, 129.67, 128.02, 127.85, 122.73, 69.12, 58.41, 29.71.

MS (HR MALDI, dithranol+Na-TFA): m/z calcd for $C_{248}H_{177}N_{15}O_{61}S_{30}$ [M+Na]⁺ 5299.28. Found 5299.19.

Anal. Calcd for C₂₄₈H₁₇₇N₁₅O₆₁S₃₀: C 56.15; H 3.36; N 3.96; S 18.13. Found: C 56.10; H 3.51; N 3.76; S 18.00.

Compound 10. A mixture of Compound **9a** (4 g, 0.77 mmol), $SnCl_2 2H_2O$ (16 g, fourfold mass excess), and concentrated hydrochloric acid (4 mL) were stirred at 40°C in a 1:1 mixture of EtOH/dichloromethane (350 mL) for 12h. The mixture was cooled down to room temperature, poured into deionized water (600 mL), and transferred into a separatory funnel. Dichloromethane (200 mL) was added. The dichloromethane layer was separated, washed with water (2x400 mL), 3% aqueous NaHCO₃ (2x400 mL), and with brine (2x400 mL), dried over MgSO₄, and then evaporated to give Compound **10** as a colorless solid. Yield 3.2 g (88%).

¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆, 300 MHz): d = 8.11 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 4H), 7.96-8.03 (m, 16H), 7.79 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 8H), 7.56 (s, 8H), 7.49 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 12H), 7.34 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 8H), 7.22 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 16H), 7.06 (s, 16H), 6.90 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 16H), 6.83 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 16H), 5.74 (s, 32H), 3.88 (br 2H), 3.20 (t, J = 6 Hz, 2H), 3.03 (s, 3H), 1.78 (br, 2H).

MS (HR MALDI, dithranol+Na-TFA): m/z calcd for $C_{184}H_{161}N_{31}O_{61}S_{30}$ [M+Na]⁺ 4739.21. Found 4739.11.

Compound 11. A mixture of hexadecaamine **10** (3 g, 0.63 mmol), triethylamine (3.1 g, 0.03 mol), and 2-naphthalenesulfonyl chloride (4.6 g, 0.02 mol) was refluxed in a 1:1 mixture of dichloromethane/acetone (180 mL) at reflux for 6h. Then the liquid components of the reaction mixture were removed by rotary evaporation. The solid residue was dissolved in dichloromethane (180 mL). Triethylamine (3.1 g, 0.03 mol) and 2-naphthalenesulfonyl chloride (4.6 g, 0.02 mol) were added to the solution. The reaction mixture was refluxed for 72h. Then the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation, and the solid residue was ground to a fine powder with methanol. The solid precipitate was filtered through a glass funnel filter and thoroughly washed with methanol. Upon drying in vacuum, the raw product was purified by column chromatography on silica gel with CH₂Cl₂/EtOAc (97:3), $R_{\rm f} = 0.27$. Colorless powder; yield 1.9 g (28%), melting region 138–173°C.

¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 600 MHz): d = 8.46 (s, 32H), 7.77-7.95 (m, 190 H), 7.44-7.58 (m, 92H), 7.31-7.36 (m, 18H), 7.21 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 12H), 3.75 (br, 2H), 3.00-3.24 (m, 5H), 1.78 (br, 2H).

¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz): d = 141.55, 140.80, 140.00, 138.85, 138.54, 137.74, 137.46, 135.58, 135.42, 135.08, 134.71, 134.52, 132.53, 131.79, 130.95, 130.74, 130.56, 130.25, 129.96, 129.73, 128.00, 127.82, 122.76, 69.12, 58.41, 29.71.

MS (HR MALDI, dithranol+Na-TFA): m/z calcd for $C_{504}H_{353}N_{31}O_{125}S_{62}$ [M+Na]⁺ 10842.48. Found 10842.29.

Anal. Calcd for C₅₀₄H₃₅₃N₃₁O₁₂₅S₆₂: C 55.89; H 3.29; N 4.01; S 18.35. Found: C 55.71; H 3.38; N 3.89; S 18.07.

Bibliography

 Schubert, D.; Corda, M.; Lukin, O.; Brusilowskij, B.; Fiškin, E.; Schalley, C. A. A Topological View of Isomeric Dendrimers. *European Journal of Organic Chemistry* 2008, No. 24, 4148–4156. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.200800408.

(2) Tomalia, D. A.; Baker, H.; Dewald, J.; Hall, M.; Kallos, G.; Martin, S.; Roeck, J.; Ryder, J.; Smith, P. A New Class of Polymers: Starburst-Dendritic Macromolecules. *Polymer Journal* 1985, *17* (1), 117–132. https://doi.org/10.1295/polymj.17.117.

(3) Ratner, B. D.; Hoffman, A. S.; Schoen, F. J.; Lemons, J. E. *Biomaterials Science*; Elsevier, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2009-0-02433-7.

Lukin, O.; Gramlich, V.; Kandre, R.; Zhun, I.; Felder, T.; Schalley, C. A.; Dolgonos, G.
 Designer Dendrimers: Branched Oligosulfonimides with Controllable Molecular Architectures.
 Journal of the American Chemical Society 2006, *128* (27), 8964–8974.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/ja061606b.

(5) Mohapatra, S.; Ranjan, S.; Dasgupta, N.; Kumar, R. *Applications of Targeted Nano Drugs and Delivery Systems: Nanoscience and Nanotechnology in Drug Delivery*; 2018.

(6) Abbasi, E.; Aval, S. F.; Akbarzadeh, A.; Milani, M.; Nasrabadi, H. T.; Joo, S. W.; Hanifehpour, Y.; Nejati-Koshki, K.; Pashaei-Asl, R. Dendrimers: Synthesis, Applications, and Properties. *Nanoscale Research Letters*. Springer New York LLC May 21, 2014, pp 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1556-276X-9-247.

(7) McCarthy, T. D.; Karellas, P.; Henderson, S. A.; Giannis, M.; O'Keefe, D. F.; Heery, G.; Paull, J. R. A.; Matthews, B. R.; Holan, G. Dendrimers as Drugs: Discovery and Preclinical and Clinical Development of Dendrimer-Based Microbicides for HIV and STI Prevention. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*. July 2005, pp 312–318. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp050023q.

(8) Khanam, S.; Rai, S. K.; Tewari, A. K. Advancement in the Sulfone-Based Dendrimers : From Synthesis to Application Advancement in the Sulfone-Based Dendrimers : From Synthesis to Application. **2017**, 8 (November), 1005–1019. https://doi.org/10.5185/amlett.2017.1609. (9) Noriega-Luna, B.; Godínez, L. A.; Rodríguez, F. J.; Rodríguez, A.; Zaldívar-Lelo De Larrea, G.; Sosa-Ferreyra, C. F.; Mercado-Curiel, R. F.; Manríquez, J.; Bustos, E. Applications of Dendrimers in Drug Delivery Agents, Diagnosis, Therapy, and Detection. *Journal of Nanomaterials*. Hindawi Publishing Corporation 2014. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/507273.

(10) Hardin, N. Z.; Ravula, T.; Mauro, G. Di; Ramamoorthy, A. Hydrophobic
Functionalization of Polyacrylic Acid as a Versatile Platform for the Development of Polymer
Lipid Nanodisks. *Small* 2019, *15* (9), 1804813. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201804813.

(11) Xu, J.; Li, X.; Cho, C. M.; Toh, C. L.; Shen, L.; Mya, K. Y.; Lu, X.; He, C. Polyhedral Oligomeric Silsesquioxanes Tethered with Perfluoroalkylthioether Corner Groups: Facile Synthesis and Enhancement of Hydrophobicity of Their Polymer Blends. *Journal of Materials Chemistry* **2009**, *19* (27), 4740–4745. https://doi.org/10.1039/b900299e.

Nguyen, B. Q. H.; Shanmugasundaram, A.; Hou, T. F.; Park, J.; Lee, D. W. Realizing the Flexible and Transparent Highly-Hydrophobic Film through Siloxane Functionalized
 Polyurethane-Acrylate Micro-Pattern. *Chemical Engineering Journal* 2019, *373*, 68–77.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.04.197.

(13) NEENAN, T. X.; MANDEVILLE, W. . H. I. ANTIVIRAL POLYMERS COMPRISING ACID FUNCTIONAL AND HYDROPHOBIC GROUPS. **1999**.

(14) Abe, H. Control of Nanostructure of Materials. In *Nanoparticle Technology Handbook*;
 Elsevier, 2018; pp 169–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64110-6.00004-4.

(15) Peng, J. B.; Barnes, G. T.; Gentle, I. R. The Structures of Langmuir-Blodgett Films of Fatty Acids and Their Salts. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*. May 25, 2001, pp 163–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-8686(99)00031-7.

(16) Blodgett, K. B. Monomolecular Films of Fatty Acids on Glass. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1934**, *56* (2), 495. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01317a513.

Blodgett, K. B. Films Built by Depositing Successive Monomolecular Layers on a Solid Surface. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 1935, *57* (6), 1007–1022.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01309a011.

(18) Petty, M. C. *Langmuir-Blodgett Films : An Introduction*; Cambridge University Press, 1996.

(19) Vögtle, F.; Richardt, G.; Werner, N. Dendrimer Chemistry: Concepts, Syntheses,
 Properties, Applications; John Wiley and Sons, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527626953.

(20) Geddes, N. J.; Sambles, J. R.; Jarvis, D. J.; Parker, W. G.; Sandman, D. J. Fabrication and Investigation of Asymmetric Current-Voltage Characteristics of a Metal/Langmuir-Blodgett Monolayer/Metal Structure. *Applied Physics Letters* **1990**, *56* (19), 1916–1918. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.103043.

(21) Williams, D. J. Organic Polymeric and Non-Polymeric Materials with Large Optical Nonlinearities. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English*. 1984, pp 690–703. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.198406901.

(22) Barsanti, L.; Evangelista, V.; Gualtieri, P.; Passarelli, V. *Molecular Electronics: Bio-Sensors and Bio-Computers*; 2012.

(23) Cabaj, J.; Sołoducho, J.; Nowakowska-Oleksy, A. Langmuir-Blodgett Film Based
Biosensor for Estimation of Phenol Derivatives. *Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical* 2010, *143*(2), 508–515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2009.09.047.

(24) Sánchez, A.; Villalonga, A.; Martínez-García, G.; Parrado, C.; Villalonga, R. Dendrimers as Soft Nanomaterials for Electrochemical Immunosensors. *Nanomaterials*. MDPI AG December 1, 2019. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano9121745.

(25) Saedi, S.; Rhim, J. W. Synthesis of Fe3O4@SiO2@PAMAM Dendrimer@AgNP Hybrid Nanoparticles for the Preparation of Carrageenan-Based Functional Nanocomposite Film. *Food Packaging and Shelf Life* **2020**, *24*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fpsl.2020.100473.

(26) Elancheziyan, M.; Senthilkumar, S. Covalent Immobilization and Enhanced Electrical Wiring of Hemoglobin Using Gold Nanoparticles Encapsulated PAMAM Dendrimer for Electrochemical Sensing of Hydrogen Peroxide. *Applied Surface Science* **2019**, *495*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2019.143540. (27) Nemanashi, M.; Noh, J. H.; Meijboom, R. Dendrimers as Alternative Templates and Pore-Directing Agents for the Synthesis of Micro- and Mesoporous Materials. *Journal of Materials Science*. Springer New York LLC September 1, 2018, pp 12663–12678. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10853-018-2527-6.

(28) Ozturk, O.; Black, T. J.; Perrine, K.; Pizzolato, K.; Williams, C. T.; Parsons, F. W.; Ratliff, J. S.; Gao, J.; Murphy, C. J.; Xie, H.; et al. Thermal Decomposition of Generation-4 Polyamidoamine Dendrimer Films: Decomposition Catalyzed by Dendrimer-Encapsulated Pt Particles. *Langmuir* **2005**, *21* (9), 3998–4006. https://doi.org/10.1021/la047242n.

(29) Liu, H.; Wang, Y.; Mo, W.; Tang, H.; Cheng, Z.; Chen, Y.; Zhang, S.; Ma, H.; Li, B.; Li, X. Dendrimer-Based, High-Luminescence Conjugated Microporous Polymer Films for Highly Sensitive and Selective Volatile Organic Compound Sensor Arrays. *Advanced Functional Materials* 2020, 1910275. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201910275.

(30) Omar, N. A. S.; Fen, Y. W.; Abdullah, J.; Mustapha Kamil, Y.; Daniyal, W. M. E. M. M.; Sadrolhosseini, A. R.; Mahdi, M. A. Sensitive Detection of Dengue Virus Type 2 E-Proteins Signals Using Self-Assembled Monolayers/Reduced Graphene Oxide-PAMAM Dendrimer Thin Film-SPR Optical Sensor. *Scientific Reports* **2020**, *10* (1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59388-3.

(31) Wang, C.; Zhao, X.-P.; Liu, F.-F.; Chen, Y.; Xia, X.-H.; Li, J. [ASAP] Dendrimer-Au Nanoparticle Network Covered Alumina Membrane for Ion Rectification and Enhanced Bioanalysis. *Nano Letters* **2020**. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.9b05066.

(32) Vögtle, F.; Weber, E. Octopus Molecules. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English* **1974**, *13* (12), 814–816. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.197408141.

(33) Vogtle, F., Buhleier, E.W. and Wehner, W. (1978) Cascade and Nonskid-Chain-Like Syntheses of Molecular Cavity Topologies. Synthesis, 2, 155-158. - Open Access Library http://www.oalib.com/references/14796990 (accessed Jan 27, 2020).

(34) Feuerbacher, N.; Vögtle, F. Iterative Synthesis in Organic Chemistry; 1998; pp 1–18.
https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-69779-9_1.
(35) US Patent for Macromolecular highly branched homogeneous compound based on lysine units Patent (Patent # 4,289,872 issued September 15, 1981) - Justia Patents Search https://patents.justia.com/patent/4289872 (accessed Jan 21, 2020).

(36) US Patent for Preparation of lysine based macromolecular highly branched homogeneous compound Patent (Patent # 4,360,646 issued November 23, 1982) - Justia Patents Search https://patents.justia.com/patent/4360646 (accessed Jan 21, 2020).

(37) MacIejewski, M. Concepts of Trapping Topologically by Shell Molecules. *Journal of Macromolecular Science: Part A - Chemistry* 1982, *17* (4), 689–703.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00222338208062416.

(38) De Gennes, P. G.; Hervet, H. Statistics of "Starburst "Polymers Statistics of «starburst »
Polymers. *Journal de Physique Lettres* 1983, 44 (9).
https://doi.org/10.1051/jphyslet:01983004409035100ï.

(39) Tomalia, D. A.; Naylor, A. M.; Goddard, W. A. Starburst Dendrimers: Molecular-Level Control of Size, Shape, Surface Chemistry, Topology, and Flexibility from Atoms to Macroscopic Matter. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English* 1990, *29* (2), 138–175. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.199001381.

(40) Tomalia, D. A.; Baker, H.; Dewald, J.; Hall, M.; Kallos, G.; Martin, S.; Roeck, J.; Ryder, J.; Smith, P. Dendritic Macromolecules: Synthesis of Starburst Dendrimers. *Macromolecules* 1986, *19* (9), 2466–2468. https://doi.org/10.1021/ma00163a029.

(41) Newkome, G. R.; Moorefield, C. N.; Vögtle, F. *Dendrimers and Dendrons*; Wiley, 2001. https://doi.org/10.1002/3527600612.

(42) Newkome, G. R.; Yao, Z.; Baker, G. R.; Gupta, V. K. Micelles. Part 1. Cascade
Molecules: A New Approach to Micelles. A [27]-Arborol. *The Journal of Organic Chemistry* 1985, *50* (11), 2003–2004. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo00211a052.

(43) Miller, T. M.; Neenan, T. X. Convergent Synthesis of Monodisperse Dendrimers Based upon 1,3,5-Trisubstituted Benzenes. *Chemistry of Materials* 1990, 2 (4), 346–349.
https://doi.org/10.1021/cm00010a006.

(44) Hawker, C.; Frechet, J. M. J. *A New Convergent Approach to Monodisperse Dendritic Macromolecules*; 1990.

(45) Balagurusamy, V. S. K.; Ungar, G.; Percec, V.; Johansson, G. Rational Design of the First Spherical Supramolecular Dendrimers Self-Organized in a Novel Thermotropic Cubic Liquid-Crystalline Phase and the Determination of Their Shape by X-Ray Analysis. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1997**, *119* (7), 1539–1555. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja963295i.

(46) Morgenroth, F.; Berresheim, A. J.; Wagner, M.; Müllen, K. Spherical Polyphenylene Dendrimers via Diels-Alder Reactions: The First Example of an A4B Building Block in Dendrimer Chemistry. *Chemical Communications* **1998**, No. 10, 1139–1140. https://doi.org/10.1039/a801395k.

 (47) Gombotz, W. R. Dendrimers. In *Biomaterials Science: An Introduction to Materials: Third Edition*; Elsevier Inc., 2013; pp 1045–1047. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-087780-8.00095-4.

(48) Moorefield, C. N.; Schultz, A.; Newkome, G. R. From Dendrimers to Fractal Polymers and Beyond. *Brazilian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* **2013**, *49* (SPL.ISS.), 67–84. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1984-82502013000700007.

(49) Janaszewska, A.; Lazniewska, J.; Trzepiński, P.; Marcinkowska, M.; Klajnert-Maculewicz, B. Cytotoxicity of Dendrimers. *Biomolecules*. MDPI AG August 1, 2019. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom9080330.

(50) Binetti, R.; Costamagna, F. M.; Marcello, I. Exponential Growth of New Chemicals and Evolution of Information Relevant to Risk Control. *Annali dell'Istituto Superiore di Sanita* 2008, 44 (1), 13–15.

(51) Newkome, G. R.; Moorefield, C. N.; Baker, G. R.; Johnson, A. L.; Behera, R. K. Alkane Cascade Polymers Possessing Micellar Topology: Micellanoic Acid Derivatives. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English* **1991**, *30* (9), 1176–1178. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.199111761.

(52) Lyu, Z.; Ding, L.; Huang, A. Y. T.; Kao, C. L.; Peng, L. Poly(Amidoamine)Dendrimers:

Covalent and Supramolecular Synthesis. *Materials Today Chemistry*. Elsevier Ltd September 1, 2019, pp 34–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtchem.2019.04.004.

(53) Sowinska, M.; Urbanczyk-Lipkowska, Z. Advances in the Chemistry of Dendrimers.
 New Journal of Chemistry. Royal Society of Chemistry 2014, pp 2168–2203.
 https://doi.org/10.1039/c3nj01239e.

(54) Hummelen, J. C.; Van Dongen, J. L. J.; Meijer, E. W. Electrospray Mass Spectrometry of Poly(Propylene Imine) Dendrimers-The Issue of Dendritic Purity or Polydispersity. *Chemistry - A European Journal* **1997**, *3* (9), 1489–1493. https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.19970030916.

(55) Newkome, G. R.; Shreiner, C. D. Poly(Amidoamine), Polypropylenimine, and Related Dendrimers and Dendrons Possessing Different $1 \rightarrow 2$ Branching Motifs: An Overview of the Divergent Procedures. *Polymer*. Elsevier BV October 10, 2008, pp 1–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2007.10.021.

(56) de Brabander-van den Berg, E. M. M.; Meijer, E. W. Poly(Propylene Imine) Dendrimers: Large-Scale Synthesis by Hetereogeneously Catalyzed Hydrogenations. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English* **1993**, *32* (9), 1308–1311. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.199313081.

(57) Wörner, C.; Mülhaupt, R. Polynitrile- and Polyamine-Functional Poly(Trimethylene Imine) Dendrimers. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English* 1993, *32* (9), 1306– 1308. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.199313061.

(58) Launay, N.; Caminade, A. M.; Majoral, J. P. Synthesis and Reactivity of Unusual Phosphorus Dendrimers. A Useful Divergent Growth Approach Up to the Seventh Generation. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1995**, *117* (11), 3282–3283. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00116a037.

(59) Wooley, K. L.; Hawker, C. J.; Frechet, J. M. J. Hyperbranched Macromolecules via a Novel Double-Stage Convergent Growth Approach. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 1991, *113* (11), 4252–4261. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00011a031.

(60) Grayson, S. M.; Fréchet, J. M. J. Convergent Dendrons and Dendrimers: From Synthesis

to Applications. *Chemical Reviews* **2001**, *101* (12), 3819–3868. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr990116h.

 (61) L'abbé, G.; Forier, B.; Dehaen, W. A Fast Double-Stage Convergent Synthesis of Dendritic Polyethers. *Chemical Communications* 1996, No. 18, 2143–2144.
 https://doi.org/10.1039/CC9960002143.

(62) Kolb, H. C.; Finn, M. G.; Sharpless, K. B. Click Chemistry: Diverse Chemical Function from a Few Good Reactions. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* 2001, *40* (11), 2004–2021. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-3773(20010601)40:11<2004::aid-anie2004>3.3.co;2-x.

(63) Lahann, J. *Click Chemistry for Biotechnology and Materials Science*; John Wiley and Sons, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470748862.

Miller, L. L.; Duan, R. G.; Tully, D. C.; Tomalia, D. A. Electrically Conducting Dendrimers. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 1997, *119* (5), 1005–1010.
https://doi.org/10.1021/ja963270j.

 (65) Sandoval-Yañez, C.; Rodriguez, C. C. Dendrimers: Amazing Platforms for Bioactive Molecule Delivery Systems. *Materials*. MDPI AG February 1, 2020.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ma13030570.

(66) Moors, R.; Vögtle, F. Dendrimere Polyamine. *Chemische Berichte* 1993, *126* (9), 2133–2135. https://doi.org/10.1002/cber.19931260925.

(67) Vogtle, F.; Gestermann, S.; Kauffmann, C.; Ceroni, P.; Vicinelli, V.; Balzani, V.
Coordination of Co2+ Ions in the Interior of Poly(Propylene Amine) Dendrimers Containing
Fluorescent Dansyl Units in the Periphery. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 2000, *122*(42), 10398–10404. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja993745h.

(68) González, B.; Casado, C. M.; Alonso, B.; Cuadrado, I.; Morán, M.; Wang, Y.; Kaifer, A.
E. Synthesis, Electrochemistry and Cyclodextrin Binding of Novel Cobaltocenium-Functionalized Dendrimers. *Chemical Communications* 1998, No. 23, 2569–2570. https://doi.org/10.1039/a805877f. (69) González, B.; Alonso, B.; Losada, J.; García-Armada, M. P.; Casado, C. M. Aza-Crown
 Ethers Attached to Dendrimers through Amidoferrocenyl Units. *Organometallics* 2006, 25 (15),
 3558–3561. https://doi.org/10.1021/om0603161.

(70) Esfand, R.; Tomalia, D. A. Poly(Amidoamine) (PAMAM) Dendrimers: From
Biomimicry to Drug Delivery and Biomedical Applications. *Drug Discovery Today*. May 1,
2001, pp 427–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-6446(01)01757-3.

(71) Schiavon, O.; Pasut, G.; Moro, S.; Orsolini, P.; Guiotto, A.; Veronese, F. M. PEG-Ara-C
Conjugates for Controlled Release. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 2004, *39* (2), 123–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2003.10.005.

(72) Kesharwani, P.; Jain, K.; Jain, N. K. Dendrimer as Nanocarrier for Drug Delivery. *Progress in Polymer Science*. Pergamon February 1, 2014, pp 268–307.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2013.07.005.

Baker, J. R.; Majoros, I. J.; Mehta, C. B. Mathematical Description of Dendrimer
 Structure. *Article in Journal of Computational and Theoretical Nanoscience* 2004.
 https://doi.org/10.1166/jctn.2004.016.

(74) Lukin, O.; Gramlich, V.; Kandre, R.; Zhun, I.; Felder, T.; Schalley, C. A.; Dolgonos, G.
Designer Dendrimers: Branched Oligosulfonimides with Controllable Molecular Architectures. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 2006, *128* (27), 8964–8974.
https://doi.org/10.1021/ja061606b.

Balaji, B. S.; Lewis, M. R. Double Exponential Growth of Aliphatic Polyamide
Dendrimers via AB 2 Hypermonomer Strategy. *Chemical Communications* 2009, No. 30, 4593–4595. https://doi.org/10.1039/b903948a.

(76) Deb, S. K.; Maddux, T. M.; Yu, L. A Simple Orthogonal Approach to
Poly(Phenylenevinylene) Dendrimers. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 1997, *119* (38),
9079–9080. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja971790o.

(77) Hammer, B. A. G.; Müllen, K. Expanding the Limits of Synthetic MacromolecularChemistry through Polyphenylene Dendrimers. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* 2018, 20 (10),

1-23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-018-4364-6.

(78) Deng, S.; Krueger, G.; Taranekar, P.; Sriwichai, S.; Zong, R.; Thummel, R. P.;
Advincula, R. C. Ruthenium(II)-Cored Polythiophene Dendrimers. *Chemistry of Materials* 2011, 23 (14), 3302–3311. https://doi.org/10.1021/cm200228p.

Ma, C.-Q.; Mena-Osteritz, E.; Wunderlin, M.; Schulz, G.; Bäuerle, P. 2,2':3',2"Terthiophene-Based *All* -Thiophene Dendrons and Dendrimers: Synthesis, Structural
Characterization, and Properties. *Chemistry - A European Journal* 2012, *18* (40), 12880–12901.
https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201200231.

(80) Kolotylo, M.; Holovatiuk, V.; Bondareva, J.; Lukin, O.; Rozhkov, V. Synthesis of Sulfonimide-Based Dendrimers and Dendrons Possessing Mixed $1 \rightarrow 2$ and $1 \rightarrow 4$ Branching Motifs. *Tetrahedron Letters* **2019**, *60* (4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetlet.2018.12.052.

 (81) Abdel-Rahman, M. A.; Schweizer, B. W.; Oleg, L.; Zhang, A.; Schlüter, A. D.
 Dendronized Polymers with Aromatic Sulfonimide Dendronsa. *Macromolecular Chemistry and Physics* 2010, *211* (14), 1538–1549. https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.201000031.

(82) Lukin, O.; Schubert, D.; Müller, C.; Corda, M.; Kandre, R. Persulfonylation of Amines
Applied to the Synthesis of Higher Generation Dendrimers. *Journal of Organic Chemistry* 2008, 73 (9), 3562–3565. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo800179m.

(83) Khanam, S.; Rai, S. K.; Verma, D.; Khanna, R. S.; Tewari, A. K. An Efficient and Controlled Synthesis of Persulfonylated G1 Dendrimers: Via Click Reaction. *RSC Advances* 2016, 6 (62), 56952–56962. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6ra09929g.

(84) Khanam, S.; Pandey, S. K.; Rai, S. K.; Verma, D.; Jasinski, J. P.; Pratap, S.; Tewari, A. K. Synthesis of *N*,*N* -Bis-Sulfonylated and *N* -Alkyl- *N* -Sulfonylated G1 Dendrimers *via* Click Reaction: Application of Thiocarbamide Based Cu⁻¹ Catalysts. *ChemistrySelect* 2017, *2* (22), 6370–6374. https://doi.org/10.1002/slct.201701591.

(85) Arseneault, M.; Wafer, C.; Morin, J. F. Recent Advances in Click Chemistry Applied to Dendrimer Synthesis. *Molecules*. MDPI AG 2015, pp 9263–9294. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules20059263. McNelles, S. A.; Adronov, A. Rapid Synthesis of Functionalized High-Generation
 Polyester Dendrimers via Strain-Promoted Alkyne-Azide Cycloaddition. *Macromolecules* 2017, 50 (20), 7993–8001. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.7b01765.

(87) Ludwig, A. Discovery of New Materials Using Combinatorial Synthesis and High-Throughput Characterization of Thin-Film Materials Libraries Combined with Computational Methods. *npj Computational Materials*. Nature Publishing Group December 1, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41524-019-0205-0.

(88) Technology and Innovation for the Future of Production: Accelerating Value Creation;2017.

(89) Jain, K.; Kesharwani, P.; Gupta, U.; Jain, N. K. Dendrimer Toxicity: Let's Meet the Challenge. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*. July 2010, pp 122–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.04.027.

(90) Newkome, G. R. (George R.; Moorefield, C. N. (Charles N. .; Vögtle, F. (Fritz). Dendrimers and Dendrons : Concepts, Syntheses, Applications; Wiley-VCH, 2001.

(91) Zheng, Y.; Li, S.; Weng, Z.; Gao, C. Hyperbranched Polymers: Advances from Synthesis to Applications. *Chemical Society Reviews* 2015, *44* (12), 4091–4130.
https://doi.org/10.1039/c4cs00528g.

Schlüter, A. D.; Halperin, A.; Kröger, M.; Vlassopoulos, D.; Wegner, G.; Zhang, B.
 Dendronized Polymers: Molecular Objects between Conventional Linear Polymers and Colloidal
 Particles. ACS Macro Letters 2014, 3 (10), 991–998. https://doi.org/10.1021/mz500376e.

(93) Campagna, S.; Ceroni, P.; Puntoriero, F. Designing Dendrimers; Wiley, 2012.

(94) Caminade, A.-M. Dendrimers : Towards Catalytic, Material and Biomedical Uses;Wiley, 2011.

(95) Vögtle, F.; Gorka, M.; Hesse, R.; Ceroni, P.; Maestri, M.; Balzani, V. Photochemical and Photophysical Properties of Poly(Propylene Amine) Dendrimers with Peripheral Naphthalene and Azobenzene Groups. *Photochemical and Photobiological Sciences* **2002**, *1* (1), 45–51.

https://doi.org/10.1039/b106813j.

(96) Stojanovic, N.; Murphy, L. D.; Wagner, B. D. Fluorescence-Based Comparative Binding
 Studies of the Supramolecular Host Properties of PAMAM Dendrimers Using
 Anilinonaphthalene Sulfonates: Unusual Host-Dependent Fluorescence Titration Behavior.
 Sensors 2010, 10 (4), 4053–4070. https://doi.org/10.3390/s100404053.

(97) Li, P.; Zhang, M.; Sun, X.; Guan, S.; Zhang, G.; Baumgarten, M.; Müllen, K. A Dendrimer-Based Highly Sensitive and Selective Fluorescence-Quenching Sensor for Fe3+ Both in Solution and as Film. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* **2016**, *85*, 785–791. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2016.05.046.

(98) Fuchs, S.; Kapp, T.; Otto, H.; Schöneberg, T.; Franke, P.; Gust, R.; Schüter, A. D. A
Surface-Modified Dendrimer Set for Potential Application as Drug Delivery Vehicles: Synthesis,
In Vitro Toxicity, and Intracellular Localization. *Chemistry - A European Journal* 2004, *10* (5),
1167–1192. https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.200305386.

(99) Katzur, V.; Eichler, M.; Deigele, E.; Stage, C.; Karageorgiev, P.; Geis-Gerstorfer, J.; Schmalz, G.; Ruhl, S.; Rupp, F.; Müller, R. Surface-Immobilized PAMAM-Dendrimers Modified with Cationic or Anionic Terminal Functions: Physicochemical Surface Properties and Conformational Changes after Application of Liquid Interface Stress. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* **2012**, *366* (1), 179–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2011.09.029.

(100) Gupta, A.; Dubey, S.; Mishra, M.; Gupta, M. A. Unique Structures, Properties and Applications of Dendrimers. *Journal of Drug Delivery and Therapeutics* **2018**, 8 (s), 328–339. https://doi.org/10.22270/jddt.v8i6-s.2083.

(101) Heil, C.; Windscheif, G. R.; Braschohs, S.; Flörke, J.; Gläser, J.; Lopez, M.; Müller-Albrecht, J.; Schramm, U.; Bargon, J.; Vögtle, F. Highly Selective Sensor Materials for Discriminating Carbonyl Compounds in the Gas Phase Using Quartz Microbalances. *Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical* 1999, *61* (1), 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4005(99)00279-8.

(102) Service, R. F. Dendrimers: Dream Molecules Approach Real Applications. *Science*.
1995, pp 458–459. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.267.5197.458.

(103) Abedi-Gaballu, F.; Dehghan, G.; Ghaffari, M.; Yekta, R.; Abbaspour-Ravasjani, S.; Baradaran, B.; Ezzati Nazhad Dolatabadi, J.; Hamblin, M. R. PAMAM Dendrimers as Efficient Drug and Gene Delivery Nanosystems for Cancer Therapy. *Applied Materials Today*. Elsevier Ltd September 1, 2018, pp 177–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmt.2018.05.002.

(104) Wiener, E.; Brechbiel, M. W.; Brothers, H.; Magin, R. L.; Gansow, O. A.; Tomalia, D. A.; Lauterbur, P. C. Dendrimer-based Metal Chelates: A New Class of Magnetic Resonance Imaging Contrast Agents. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine* 1994, *31* (1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.1910310102.

(105) Ding, L.; Lyu, Z.; Dhumal, D.; Kao, C. L.; Bernard, M.; Peng, L. Dendrimer-Based Magnetic Resonance Imaging Agents for Brain Cancer. *Science China Materials*. Science China Press November 1, 2018, pp 1420–1443. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40843-018-9323-6.

(106) Haensler, J.; Szoka, F. C. Polyamidoamine Cascade Polymers Mediate Efficient Transfection of Cells in Culture. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* **1993**, *4* (5), 372–379.
https://doi.org/10.1021/bc00023a012.

(107) Madaan, K.; Kumar, S.; Poonia, N.; Lather, V.; Pandita, D. Dendrimers in Drug Delivery and Targeting: Drug-Dendrimer Interactions and Toxicity Issues. *Journal of Pharmacy and Bioallied Sciences* **2014**, *6* (3), 139–150. https://doi.org/10.4103/0975-7406.130965.

(108) Lancina, M. G.; Yang, H. Dendrimers for Ocular Drug Delivery. *Canadian Journal of Chemistry*. Canadian Science Publishing 2017, pp 897–902. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjc-2017-0193.

(109) Mehta, P.; Kadam, S.; Pawar, A.; Bothiraja, C. Dendrimers for Pulmonary Delivery:
Current Perspectives and Future Challenges. *New Journal of Chemistry* 2019, *43* (22), 8396–8409. https://doi.org/10.1039/c9nj01591d.

(110) Choudhary, S.; Gupta, L.; Rani, S.; Dave, K.; Gupta, U. Impact of Dendrimers on Solubility of Hydrophobic Drug Molecules. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*. Frontiers Research Foundation May 16, 2017. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00261.

(111) Soršak, E.; Valh, J. V.; Urek, S. K.; Lobnik, A. Application of PAMAM Dendrimers in

Optical Sensing. *Analyst*. Royal Society of Chemistry February 21, 2015, pp 976–989. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4an00825a.

(112) XLIV. Of the Stilling of Waves by Means of Oil. Extracted from Sundry Letters between Benjamin Franklin, LL. D. F. R. S. William Brownrigg, M. D. F. R. S. and the Reverend Mr. Farish. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London* **1774**, *64*, 445–460. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstl.1774.0044.

(113) Rayleigh, Lord. On the Superficial Viscosity of Water. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London*. Royal Society pp 127–140. https://doi.org/10.2307/114982.

(114) RAYLEIGH. Surface Tension. *Nature* **1891**, *43* (1115), 437–439. https://doi.org/10.1038/043437c0.

(115) Kuhn, H. 6 PRESENT STATUS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS OF LANGMUIR-BLODGETT FILM RESEARCH; 1989; Vol. 178.

(116) Roberts, G. G. An Applied Science Perspective of Langmuir-Blodgett Films. *Advances in Physics* **1985**, *34* (4), 475–512. https://doi.org/10.1080/00018738500101801.

(117) Hussain, S. A.; Bhattacharjee, D. Langmuir-Blodgett Films and Molecular Electronics. *Modern Physics Letters B* 2009, *23* (29), 3437–3451.
https://doi.org/10.1142/S0217984909021508.

(118) Norris, D. J.; Vlasov, Y. A. Chemical Approaches to Three-Dimensional Semiconductor Photonic Crystals. *Advanced Materials* 2001, *13* (6), 371–376. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-4095(200103)13:6<371::AID-ADMA371>3.0.CO;2-K.

(119) Jiang, P.; Ostojic, G. N.; Narat, R.; Mittleman, D. M.; Colvin, V. L. The Fabrication and Bandgap Engineering of Photonic Multilayers. *Advanced Materials* **2001**, *13* (6), 389–393. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-4095(200103)13:6<389::AID-ADMA389>3.0.CO;2-L.

(120) Lee, Y.-L.; Du, Z.-C.; Lin, W.-X.; Yang, Y.-M. Monolayer Behavior of Silica Particles at Air/Water Interface: A Comparison between Chemical and Physical Modifications of Surface. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* **2006**, *296* (1), 233–241.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2005.08.070.

(121) Okahata, Y.; Tsuruta, T.; Ijiro, K.; Ariga, K. Preparations of Langmuir-Blodgett Films of Enzyme-Lipid Complexes: A Glucose Sensor Membrane. *Thin Solid Films* 1989, *180* (1–2), 65–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-6090(89)90055-2.

(122) Kent, M. S.; Yim, H.; Sasaki, D. Y.; Satija, S.; Seo, Y.-S.; Majewski, J. Adsorption of Myoglobin to Cu(II)-IDA and Ni(II)-IDA Functionalized Langmuir Monolayers: Study of the Protein Layer Structure during the Adsorption Process by Neutron and X-Ray Reflectivity. *Langmuir* **2005**, *21* (15), 6815–6824. https://doi.org/10.1021/la047433q.

(123) Reichert, W. M.; Bruckner, C. J.; Joseph, J. Langmuir-Blodgett Films and Black Lipid Membranes in Biospecific Surface-Selective Sensors. *Thin Solid Films* 1987, *152* (1–2), 345–376. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-6090(87)90426-3.

(124) Kim, K.; Kim, C.; Byun, Y. Preparation of a Dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine/Cholesterol Langmuir-Blodgett Monolayer That Suppresses Protein Adsorption. *Langmuir* 2001, *17* (16), 5066–5070. https://doi.org/10.1021/la0102096.

(125) Cheng, C. X.; Jiao, T. F.; Tang, R. P.; Chen, E. Q.; Liu, M. H.; Xi, F. Compression-Induced Hierarchical Nanostructures of a Poly(Ethylene Oxide)-Block-Dendronized
Polymethacrylate Copolymer at the Air/Water Interface. *Macromolecules* 2006, *39* (19), 6327–6330. https://doi.org/10.1021/ma0614500.

(126) Costa, A. S.; Imae, T. Morphological Investigation of Hybrid Langmuir - Blodgett Films of Arachidic Acid with a Hydrotalcite/Dendrimer Nanocomposite. *Langmuir* 2004, 20 (20), 8865–8869. https://doi.org/10.1021/la049088a.

(127) Duan, P.; Qin, L.; Liu, M. Langmuir–Blodgett Films and Chiroptical Switch of an Azobenzene-Containing Dendron Regulated by the in Situ Host–Guest Reaction at the Air/Water Interface [†]. *Langmuir* **2011**, *27* (4), 1326–1331. https://doi.org/10.1021/la103934g.

(128) Elliott, E. K.; Stine, K. J.; Gokel, G. W. Air-Water Interfacial Behavior of Amphiphilic
Peptide Analogs of Synthetic Chloride Ion Transporters. *Journal of Membrane Science* 2008, *321*(1), 43–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2008.01.048.

(129) Schenning, A. P. H. J.; Elissen-Román, C.; Weener, J. W.; Baars, M. W. P. L.; Van Der Gaast, S. J.; Meijer, E. W. Amphiphilic Dendrimers as Building Blocks in Supramolecular Assemblies. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1998**, *120* (32), 8199–8208. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja9736774.

(130) Perepichka, I. F.; Mysyk, D. D.; Sokolov, N. I. Sensitisation of Photoconductivity of Poly-N-(2,3-Epoxypropyl)Carbazole Films by TCNQ and Fluorene Acceptors. *Synthetic Metals* 1999, *101* (1), 9–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0379-6779(98)00630-4.

(131) Sheiko, S. S.; Buzin, A. I.; Muzafarov, A. M.; Rebrov, E. A.; Getmanova, E. V.
Spreading of Carbosilane Dendrimers at the Air/Water Interface. *Langmuir* 1998, *14* (26), 7468–7474. https://doi.org/10.1021/la980504z.

(132) Butt, H.; Graf, K.; Kappl, M. *Physics and Chemistry of Interfaces (Physics Textbook)*;
2006. https://doi.org/10.1002/3527602313.

(133) Drelich, J. W.; Boinovich, L.; Chibowski, E.; Della Volpe, C.; Hołysz, L.; Marmur, A.;
 Siboni, S. Contact Angles: History of over 200 Years of Open Questions. *Surface Innovations*.
 ICE Publishing 2020, pp 3–27. https://doi.org/10.1680/jsuin.19.00007.

(134) Georgi, C.; Böhmler, M.; Qian, H.; Novotny, L.; Hartschuh, A. Probing Exciton
Propagation and Quenching in Carbon Nanotubes with Near-Field Optical Microscopy. *physica status solidi* (*b*) **2009**, *246* (11–12), 2683–2688. https://doi.org/10.1002/pssb.200982306.

(135) Trost, B. M.; Fleming, I.; Ley, S. V. COMPREHENSIVE ORGANIC SYNTHESIS Selectivity, Strategy & Effiiency in Modern Organic Chemistry Editor-in-Chief Deputy Editor-in-Chief PERGAMON PRESS OXFORD 0 NEW YORK 0 SEOUL 0 TOKYO; 1991.

(136) KSV NIMA | Biolin Scientific https://www.biolinscientific.com/ksvnima (accessed Sep 11, 2020).

(137) Paez, J. I.; Martinelli, M.; Brunetti, V.; Strumia, M. C. Dendronization: A Useful Synthetic Strategy to Prepare Multifunctional Materials. *Polymers* **2012**, *4* (1), 355–395. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym4010355. (138) Liu, L.; Kim, J.-K.; Gunawidjaja, R.; Tsukruk, V. V.; Lee, M. Toroid Morphology by ABC-Type Amphiphilic Rod–Coil Molecules at the Air–Water Interface. *Langmuir* 2008, 24
(21), 12340–12346. https://doi.org/10.1021/la8023106.

(139) Sundaresan, A. K.; Jockusch, S.; Li, Y.; Lancaster, J. R.; Banik, S.; Zimmerman, P.;
Blackwell, J. M.; Bristol, R.; Turro, N. J. Adiabatic Ring Opening in Tethered Naphthalene and
Anthracene Cycloadducts. *Photochemical and Photobiological Sciences* 2010, *9* (8), 1082–1084.
https://doi.org/10.1039/c0pp00096e.

(140) Maiti, P. K.; Çağin, T.; Wang, G.; Goddard, W. A. Structure of PAMAM Dendrimers:
Generations 1 through 11. *Macromolecules* 2004, *37* (16), 6236–6254.
https://doi.org/10.1021/ma035629b.

(141) Bradshaw, J. S.; Nielsen, N. B.; Rees, D. P. Photochemistry of Alkyl .Beta.-Naphthyl Ethers. Steric Inhibition in the Dimerization Reaction. *The Journal of Organic Chemistry* 1968, 33 (1), 259–261. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo01265a051.

(142) Bradshaw, J. S.; Hammond, G. S. Mechanisms of Photochemical Reactions in Solution.
XIX. Photodimerization of Methyl β-Naphthyl Ether. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*1963, 85 (24), 3953–3955. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00907a011.

(143) Noh, T.; Jeong, Y.; Kim, D. Low-Temperature Irradiation of 1-Substituted Naphthalenes. *Journal of the Chemical Society - Perkin Transactions 1* 1998, No. 16, 2501–2504.
https://doi.org/10.1039/a804032j.

(144) Rondelez, F.; Baret, J. F.; Bois, A. G. Liquid Expanded-Liquid Condensed Phase
Transition in Langmuir Films of Discotic Molecules. *Journal de Physique* 1987, *48* (7), 1225–1234. https://doi.org/10.1051/jphys:019870048070122500.

(145) Kocun, M.; Labuda, A.; Meinhold, W.; Revenko, I.; Proksch, R. Fast, High Resolution, and Wide Modulus Range Nanomechanical Mapping with Bimodal Tapping Mode. *ACS Nano* 2017, *11* (10), 10097–10105. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.7b04530.

(146) Dintwa, E.; Tijskens, E.; Ramon, H. On the Accuracy of the Hertz Model to Describe the Normal Contact of Soft Elastic Spheres. **2008**, *10*, 209–221. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10035-007-

0078-7.

(147) Li, W.; Moon, S.; Wojcik, M.; Xu, K. Direct Optical Visualization of Graphene and Its Nanoscale Defects on Transparent Substrates. *Nano Letters* **2016**, *16* (8), 5027–5031. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.6b01804.

(148) Wenzel, R. N. Resistance of Solid Surfaces to Wetting by Water. *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry* **1936**, *28* (8), 988–994. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie50320a024.

(149) Cassie, A. B. D.; Baxter, S. Wettability of Porous Surfaces. *Transactions of the Faraday Society* **1944**, *40* (0), 546–551. https://doi.org/10.1039/tf9444000546.